# Ethanol production from lignocellulose using high local cell density yeast cultures

Investigations of flocculating and encapsulated Saccharomyces cerevisiae

Johan O Westman



Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering

## CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY

Gothenburg, Sweden 2014



Borås, Sweden 2014

#### Ethanol production from lignocellulose using high local cell density yeast cultures

Investigations of flocculating and encapsulated Saccharomyces cerevisiae

JOHAN O WESTMAN

© Johan O Westman, 2014 ISBN 978-91-7385-950-9

Doktorsavhandlingar vid Chalmers tekniska högskola Ny serie nr 3632 ISSN 0346-718X

Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering Chalmers University of Technology SE-412 96 Gothenburg Sweden Telephone: +46 31 772 1000

Skrifter från Högskolan i Borås, nr. 46 ISSN 0280-381X

School of Engineering University of Borås SE-501 90 Borås Sweden Telephone: +46 33 435 4000

Cover illustration: Cross-section of an alginate-chitosan capsule filled with yeast cells. Photographs by Johan O Westman

Printed by Chalmers Reproservice Gothenburg, Sweden 2014

### Ethanol production from lignocellulose using high local cell density yeast cultures

Investigations of flocculating and encapsulated Saccharomyces cerevisiae

### JOHAN OLOF WESTMAN

School of Engineering, University of Borås Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering, Division of Life Sciences – Industrial Biotechnology Chalmers University of Technology

### ABSTRACT

Efforts are made to change from  $1^{st}$  to  $2^{nd}$  generation bioethanol production, using lignocellulosics as raw materials rather than using raw materials that alternatively can be used as food sources. An issue with lignocellulosics is that a harsh pretreatment step is required in the process of converting them into fermentable sugars. In this step, inhibitory compounds such as furan aldehydes and carboxylic acids are formed, leading to suboptimal fermentation rates. Another issue is that lignocellulosics may contain a large portion of pentoses, which cannot be fermented simultaneously with glucose by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. In this thesis, high local cell density has been investigated as a means of overcoming these two issues.

Encapsulation of yeast in semi-permeable alginate-chitosan capsules increased the tolerance towards furan aldehydes, but not towards carboxylic acids. The selective tolerance can be explained by differences in the concentration of compounds radially through the cell pellet inside the capsule. For inhibitors, gradients will only be formed if the compounds are readily convertible, like the furan aldehydes. Conversion of inhibitors by cells close to the membrane leads to decreased concentrations radially through the cell pellet. Thus, cells closer to the core experience subinhibitory levels of inhibitors and can ferment sugars. Carbohydrate gradients also give rise to nutrient limitations, which in turn trigger a stress response in the yeast, as was observed on mRNA and protein level. The stress response is believed to increase the robustness of the yeast and lead to improved tolerance towards additional stress.

Glucose and xylose co-consumption by a recombinant strain, CEN.PK XXX, was also improved by encapsulation. Differences in affinity of the sugar transporters normally result in that glucose is taken up preferentially to xylose. However, when encapsulated, cells in different parts of the capsule experienced high and low glucose concentrations simultaneously. Xylose and glucose could thus be taken up concurrently. This improved the co-utilisation of the sugars by the system and led to 50% higher xylose consumption and 15% higher final ethanol titres.

A protective effect by the capsule membrane itself could not be shown. Hence, the interest in flocculation was triggered, as a more convenient way to keep the cells together. To investigate whether flocculation increases the tolerance, like encapsulation, recombinant flocculating yeast strains were constructed and compared with the non-flocculating parental strain. Experiments showed that strong flocculation did not increase the tolerance towards carboxylic acids. However, the tolerance towards a spruce hydrolysate and especially against furfural was indeed increased. The results of this thesis show that high local cell density yeast cultures have the potential to aid against two of the major problems for 2<sup>nd</sup> generation bioethanol production: inhibitors and simultaneous hexose and pentose utilisation.

**Keywords**: Yeast, encapsulation, lignocellulose, ethanol, fermentation, flocculation, inhibitors, tolerance, xylose, co-utilisation

# LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

The thesis is mainly based on results presented in the following articles:

- I. Westman, Johan O; Taherzadeh, Mohammad J; Franzén, Carl Johan, (2012), Inhibitor tolerance and flocculation of a yeast strain suitable for second generation bioethanol production. Electronic Journal of Biotechnology, 15(3).
- II. Westman, Johan O; Manikondu, Ramesh Babu; Franzén, Carl Johan; Taherzadeh, Mohammad J, (2012), Encapsulation-induced stress helps Saccharomyces cerevisiae resist convertible lignocellulose derived inhibitors, International Journal of Molecular Science, 13, 11881-11894.
- III. Westman, Johan O; Taherzadeh, Mohammad J; Franzén, Carl Johan, (2012), Proteomic analysis of the increased stress tolerance of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* encapsulated in liquid core alginate-chitosan capsules, PLOS ONE, 7(11): e49335. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0049335
- IV. Westman, Johan O; Coelho, Aires; Da Costa Pereira, Joana Paula; Carvalho Esteves, Gonçalo; Bonander, Nicklas; Taherzadeh, Mohammad J; Franzén, Carl Johan, Improved sugar co-utilisation by encapsulation of a recombinant Saccharomyces cerevisiae strain in alginate-chitosan capsules. Submitted
- V. Westman, Johan O; Mapelli, Valeria; Taherzadeh, Mohammad J; Franzén Carl Johan, Flocculation causes inhibitor tolerance in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* during 2<sup>nd</sup> generation bioethanol production. Submitted

Additional publications during my doctoral research that are not included in this thesis:

- VI. Westman, Johan O; Ylitervo, Päivi; Franzén, Carl Johan.; Taherzadeh, Mohammad J, (2013), Effects of encapsulation of microorganisms on product formation during microbial fermentations. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 96, 1441-1454.
- VII. Nyman, Jonas; Lacintra, Michael; Westman, Johan O; Berglin, Mattias; Lundin, Magnus; Lennartsson, Patrik; Taherzadeh, Mohammad J, (2013), Pellet formation of zygomycetes and immobilization of yeast. New Biotechnology, 30, 516-522.

# **STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION**

My contributions to the papers included in this thesis are as follows:

**Paper I**: Responsible for most of the idea and design of the experimental work. Performed all experimental work and wrote the manuscript.

**Paper II**: Responsible for most of the idea, the design of the experimental work and all experimental work, except for the fermentations. Responsible for supervision of the remaining experimental work and wrote the manuscript.

**Paper III**: Responsible for part of the idea and all cultivations and samplings. Responsible for a major part of the analysis and the interpretation of the proteome data and wrote the manuscript.

**Paper IV**: Responsible for part of the idea, all cultivations and the writing of the corresponding parts of the manuscript.

**Paper V**: Responsible for most of the idea and design of the experiments. Performed all experimental work and wrote the manuscript.

'But then science is nothing but a series of questions that lead to more questions'. – Terry Pratchett

# PREFACE

This PhD dissertation serves as a partial fulfilment of the requirements for a PhD degree at the Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering, Chalmers University of Technology, Sweden. The PhD project was initiated in April 2009. The research was carried out under the supervision of Associate Professor Carl Johan Franzén, Chalmers University of Technology, and Professor Mohammad Taherzadeh, University of Borås.

The main part of the work performed concerns the impact of high local cell density growth of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, in the form of encapsulated and flocculating cells, on second generation bioethanol production.

My PhD project was funded by the Swedish Energy Agency, the Swedish Research Council and the University of Borås.

> Johan Westman January 2014

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

INTRODUCTION	1
BIOETHANOL FROM LIGNOCELLULOSE	5
2.1 Biofuels and the bioethanol market	5
2.2 Production of bioethanol	6
2.3 Lignocellulose as raw material – 2 <sup>nd</sup> generation bioethanol	6
2.4 Pretreatment of lignocellulosic material	8
2.5 Hydrolysis of cellulose	9
2.5.1 Acid hydrolysis	9
2.5.2 Enzymatic hydrolysis	10
2.6 Process configurations for enzymatic hydrolysis	11
YEAST IN 2 <sup>ND</sup> GENERATION BIOETHANOL PRODUCTION	13
3.1 Hexose utilisation	13
3.2 Pentose uptake and fermentation	15
3.3 Protection against stress	17
3.4 Lignocellulose derived inhibitors and their effects on the cells	19
3.4.1 Furan aldehydes	19
3.4.2 Weak carboxylic acids	21
3.4.3 Phenolic compounds	22
3.5 Investigations of cellular physiology	22
3.6 Modes of cell cultivation/fermentation	24
3.7 Cell retention	25
3.8 Inhibitor tolerance by high cell density cultures	26
3.9 Improved hydrolysate fermentation by high <i>local</i> cell density cultures	27
3.10 Challenges for commercialisation of 2 <sup>nd</sup> generation bioethanol	
ENCAPSULATION	31
4.1 Methods and materials of encapsulation	31
FLOCCULATION OF S. CEREVISIAE	35
5.1 Mechanism of yeast flocculation	
5.2 Construction of recombinant flocculating yeast strains	

HIGH LOCAL CELL DENSITY FOR SUCCESSFUL FERMENTATION	OF
LIGNOCELLULOSE HYDROLYSATES	41
6.1 A naturally occurring high local cell density strain	41
6.2 Inhibitor tolerance of encapsulated cells	45
6.3 Proteomic analysis reveals starvation-induced stress	51
6.4 Stress cross-tolerance and stress resistance by slow growth	55
6.5 Improved xylose and glucose co-consumption by encapsulated cells	57
6.6 Improved inhibitor tolerance by flocculating yeast	64
6.6.1 Batch fermentations reveal flocculation-induced inhibitor tolerance	
6.6.2 Increased tolerance is specific to convertible inhibitors	
6.7 Possibilities and strategies for industrial applications	70
CONCLUDING REMARKS	71
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	73
NOMENCLATURE	75
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	77
REFERENCES	

# **CHAPTER 1**

# **INTRODUCTION**

Although unclear and debated as to when, it is an undisputed fact that fossil fuel reserves will be depleted. This, as well as an increased environmental awareness, has made it necessary to come up with alternatives that are renewable and environmentally neutral or even beneficial. For electricity generation, solar-, wind- or hydro-power is gaining a lot of attention. However, for vehicles it will probably be necessary to, at least in part, use a liquid fuel. Of the various liquid renewable fuels available, the 1<sup>st</sup> generation bioethanol from sugary or starchy raw materials is presently the most widely used [1]. There are also thousands of years of accumulated knowledge of the process, with traditional wine and beer production from sucrose and starch containing raw materials like fruit and grain.

Nonetheless, the utilisation of sucrose- and starch-containing raw materials, mainly sugar cane in Brazil and corn in the USA, for fuel ethanol production has some drawbacks [2]. The main drawback is that the raw materials in the process could instead be utilised as food or animal feed. A less controversial choice of raw materials is the so called 2<sup>nd</sup> generation lignocellulosic materials that build up e.g. trees and corn cobs. These materials are for example abundant in wastes from forestry and agricultural industries, and its utilisation would be significantly less controversial [3].

However, due to the inherent recalcitrance of lignocellulosic materials, it is not as easy to produce the  $2^{nd}$  generation bioethanol in comparison to the  $1^{st}$  [4]. The production process of  $2^{nd}$  generation bioethanol contains a number of necessary steps (Figure 1), including a rather harsh initial pretreatment of the material to make the cellulose accessible to the subsequent hydrolysis step [3]. This adds complexity and cost to the process and, not least, inhibitors of the subsequent fermentation are easily formed during this pretreatment [5]. The fermentation of lignocellulosic hydrolysates is therefore not as straightforward as that of starch or sugar.



Figure 1 Subprocesses in bioethanol production. A number of subprocesses are necessary in the production of ethanol from lignocellulosic raw materials. All of the steps need to be optimised for economical feasibility. The raw materials have to be produced close to the ethanol plant to minimise the cost of collection and transportation. To minimise the energy utilisation, the size reduction should be kept at the minimum level required for an efficient pretreatment and hydrolysis. The harshness of the pretreatment should be low in order to not produce too much fermentation inhibitors. The hydrolysis has to reach a high yield so that all of the raw material can be utilised for ethanol production. In the fermentation step, all carbohydrates, hexoses and pentoses, have to be fermented into ethanol. The separation of the ethanol from the cells is an energy demanding process. By retention of the cells in the reactor, this step can be simplified. Since the distillation is also energy demanding, the ethanol concentration in the fermentation broth should be at a concentration of at least 4–5% (w/w) for an economically viable process [6].

Another issue with 2<sup>nd</sup> generation bioethanol production is that the lignocellulosic hydrolysates contain significant amounts of both hexoses and pentoses, while in the 1<sup>st</sup> generation materials there are mainly hexoses. Unfortunately, the microorganism commonly used in bioethanol production, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, is unable to utilise pentoses. As a result, a large portion of the carbohydrates in lignocelluloses cannot be used to produce ethanol by the same yeast, as is generally used in the 1<sup>st</sup> generation production. To overcome this problem the yeast has to be genetically modified to express the enzymes required for conversion of pentoses into ethanol [7]. However, the yeast still has a strong preference for hexoses, which is why simultaneous utilisation of the carbohydrates is not efficient. A thorough background, describing the challenges in the transition from the 1<sup>st</sup> generation bioethanol production of today to 2<sup>nd</sup> generation bioethanol production, is given in **Chapter 2** of this thesis. Furthermore, the fermentation by *S. cerevisiae* and physiological aspects of special importance for bioethanol production from lignocellulose is described in **Chapter 3**.

It has previously been shown that yeast encapsulated in semi-permeable gel capsules could tolerate hydrolysates that were too inhibitory for freely suspended yeast to ferment [8]. (The process of yeast encapsulation is described in **Chapter 4**.) It has also been

observed that flocculating strains often are tolerant to inhibitory hydrolysates. Flocculation is a natural way for the yeast cells to attach to each other. The basis of yeast flocculation and construction of recombinant flocculating strains is presented in **Chapter 5**. However, the reason why these 'high local cell density' cultures are more tolerant towards toxic hydrolysates was not known when this thesis project was initiated.

At the beginning of the project, there were three hypotheses as to why encapsulated yeast tolerated inhibitory hydrolysates better than freely suspended cells.

- First, diffusion limitations through the membrane or cell pellet were hypothesised to decrease the concentration of inhibitors locally. This hypothesis was addressed in **Papers II and IV** and further elaborated on in **Paper V**.
- Secondly, it was hypothesised that stress responses might be triggered in the yeast by the encapsulation. This hypothesis was addressed in **Papers II–III**.
- Lastly, it was hypothesised that by using a data-driven approach based on genome wide data collection, further physiological effects triggered by encapsulation could be identified. This hypothesis was addressed in **Paper III**.

Having these hypotheses as the starting point, the main goal of my thesis project was to investigate the physiological changes that occur in the yeast cells upon encapsulation and the reasons for its increased inhibitor tolerance. The results from these investigations are presented in **Papers II–III**.

A new hypothesis that arose from these subprojects was that encapsulation of a pentose utilising yeast strain would promote simultaneous co-utilisation of hexoses and pentoses, which led to the investigations presented in **Paper III**.

The first task during my PhD project also involved investigations of an interesting, inhibitor tolerant, flocculating strain. These investigations are presented in **Paper I**. The results from that subproject and the results from the investigations of the encapsulated yeast led to investigations of whether flocculation in itself could increase the inhibitor tolerance of the yeast. The results of this subproject are presented in **Paper V**. The results of the research performed as part of this thesis work are presented in **Chapter 6** and conclusions are presented in **Chapter 7**. Future directions for research in the area are presented in **Chapter 8**.

# **CHAPTER 2**

# **BIOETHANOL FROM LIGNOCELLULOSE**

Although the main focus of the work performed in this thesis has been on fermentation, a thorough background overview is necessary in order to understand the difficulties regarding  $2^{nd}$  generation bioethanol production. Therefore lignocellulosic materials as well as their route towards ethanol are described in this and the following chapter.

#### 2.1 Biofuels and the bioethanol market

There are a number of different biofuels on the market and under development, e.g. biogas, biodiesel, biohydrogen and biobutanol [1]. However, the predominant one is without doubt ethanol. Ethanol, or ethyl alcohol, has a long tradition as a vehicle fuel and was, for example, one of the options in Henry Ford's Model T cars [9]. Henry Ford was also slightly before his time when he expressed his thought in 1925 that ethanol was 'the fuel of the future' [10]. As a blend with gasoline, ethanol can be used efficiently in existing gasoline engines and it can even boost the octane rating. In this way, the fuel usage with blended ethanol is more efficient than without [9].

Countries in different parts of the world have set high goals for utilisation of biofuels. For example, the European Union have set a goal that by 2020, 10% of the fuel used for transportation should be biofuels. The US Department of Energy Office also have a scenario that by 2030, 30% of the gasoline demand should be replaced by biofuels [11]. The two main producers of bioethanol are the United States and Brazil. During 2012, these two countries produced 87% of the fuel ethanol in the world with 50.3 and 21.1 billion litres, respectively [12]. However, the raw materials used for production of this ethanol are mainly corn and sugar cane in the two countries, respectively. The utilisation of biofuels in the US is categorised into four classes: total renewable fuel, advanced biofuel, cellulosic biofuel and biomass-based diesel. All classes have been able to reach its mandate in part or fully, except the cellulosic biofuels [13]. It is therefore clear that more research is necessary in order to increase the economic feasibility of lignocellulosic biofuels production.

#### 2.2 Production of bioethanol

There are a number of different microorganisms able to produce ethanol as a by-product when they utilise sugars for growth [14]. Examples can be found among both bacteria and fungi, like *Escherichia coli*, *Zymomonas mobilis*, *Clostridium thermocellum* and *Pichia stipitis*, among others. However, there are issues with these microorganisms, such as low ethanol productivity or low ethanol tolerance. These problems are less pronounced with the yeast *S. cerevisiae*, which is why it is often utilised for ethanol production.

*S. cerevisiae* is preferred due to its long history of utilisation for both ethanol production and baking, and the fact that it has GRAS (Generally Recognised As Safe) status. It also possesses many of the traits important for production of  $2^{nd}$  generation bioethanol, such as high ethanol yields and productivity and relatively high inhibitor tolerance. However, it lacks the ability to utilise all sugars present in lignocellulosic hydrolysates, due to an, in the best case, extremely poor pentose utilisation. Its inhibitor tolerance can also be a limiting factor, as will be discussed in the following chapter. For production of  $1^{st}$ generation bioethanol, from sugar and starch-rich materials, these shortcomings are not major drawbacks. In sugar and starch-rich materials the carbohydrates are mainly readily fermentable hexoses. They are also extracted from the raw materials without the need for harsh pretreatment. Therefore, significant amounts of inhibitors are usually not formed [1]. The case is completely different when it comes to  $2^{nd}$  generation bioethanol, which explains why its breakthrough as a serious competitor on the liquid biofuel market has still not come.

### 2.3 Lignocellulose as raw material – 2<sup>nd</sup> generation bioethanol

Production of ethanol from sugars by fermentation is a process that has been utilised by humans for at least 6,000 years [15]. However, the production from grain and fruit has mainly been for the purpose of beverage production: consequently, the utilisation of these raw materials for fuel production is rather controversial [2]. For this and other reasons, such as land use issues [16], the production of fuel ethanol from lignocellulosic materials is an interesting option. The raw materials available for 2<sup>nd</sup> generation biofuel production are abundant. The annual production is estimated to be 1.8\*10<sup>11</sup> tonnes

lignocellulosic biomass per year, of which 10% is considered as potentially accessible [17]. However, since utilisation of all available biomass for ethanol production is not a likely scenario, liquid biofuels will most probably not be the sole replacement of fossil fuels. Other alternatives such as biomethane, hydrogen and electricity will surely also be needed [18]. Furthermore, to obtain profitability in the production of 2<sup>nd</sup> generation biofuels, a biorefinery is likely necessary. In a biorefinery, value added products are produced in addition to the low cost fuel [19]. However, there are still drawbacks that need to be overcome for 2<sup>nd</sup> generation bioethanol production, mainly related to the highly recalcitrant structure of the raw material [1,4,11,20].

Lignocellulosic materials are mainly composed of cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin (Figure 2), in varying proportions depending on the source.

The major constituent of lignocellulose is cellulose, the most abundant biopolymer on earth. Cellulose is a polymer of cellobiose units, which in turn is a dimer of glucose [21]. In wood, it has approximately 10,000 glucose units per chain [22]. Multiple cellulose chains are hydrogen bonded together to create a robust structure. Due to the many hydrogen bonds, the cellulose fibres are said to be highly crystalline. This high crystallinity makes cellulose fibres very difficult to degrade, since accessibility by the enzymes is restricted, thus limiting their ability to hydrolyse the bonds [4].

The second polysaccharide present in lignocellulosic materials, hemicellulose, is not a homopolymer like cellulose. It is instead made up of a heterogeneous group of polysaccharides [23]. Hemicellulose contains both hexoses and pentoses and its structure is considerably more irregular than cellulose. The composition of hemicellulose also differs considerably depending on the source [23]. As examples, a hemicellulose hydrolysate from birch contains a significant portion of xylose, and one from spruce contains a high proportion of mannose [24]. The irregular structure of hemicellulose, with short and branched polymers, makes it more amorphous and in that aspect easier to degrade than cellulose [23,25]. However, the presence of significantly more types of bonds in its structure necessitates a wider variety of degrading enzymes when compared to cellulose. To facilitate an economically feasible production of 2<sup>nd</sup> generation bioethanol, it is important that all sugars in the raw material can be used, including the different pentoses present in the hemicellulose fraction [26].



**Figure 2 Schematic structure of lignocellulose.** Three major constituents build up lignocellulose: cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin. The cellulose is surrounded by hemicellulose and lignin, forming a highly recalcitrant structure. Figure adapted from [27].

Lignin, the last of the major polymeric constituents of lignocellulose, is made up of noncarbohydrate monomers that cannot be used for fermentative production of ethanol. Hence, lignin is often simply burnt as a fuel for production of heat or electricity that can be utilised for operation of the ethanol production plant [28]. Lignin polymers are mainly made up of three building blocks: syringyl (S), *p*-hydroxyphenyl (H) and guaiacyl (G) [29]. The ratio of these building blocks vary among different plant species, with softwood containing mostly G units and hardwood G and S units [5]. Incorporated lignin in the cell walls, intertwined with the cellulose and hemicellulose, is what gives the main structural stability of large plants such as trees [25].

### 2.4 Pretreatment of lignocellulosic material

The recalcitrant nature of lignocellulosic materials makes a pretreatment step necessary in order to open up the structure for subsequent hydrolysis of the carbohydrate polymers, as mentioned in many reviews, e.g. [3,27,30]. The purpose of the pretreatment is mainly to delignify the biomass and decrease the cellulose crystallinity. This leads to an increased accessible surface area and increased porosity and thus enables easier enzyme access. The pretreatment step also releases sugar monomers, in particular, from the hemicellulose fraction [31]. Enzymatic hydrolysis of the cellulose in lignocellulosic materials is significantly less efficient without the pretreatment step. Generally, the hydrolysis yield is less than 20% of the theoretical without pretreatment, while more than 90% can be reached with pretreatment [32].

The pretreatment can be performed in numerous different ways, usually divided into physical, physico-chemical, chemical and biological methods [3]. Ideally, the pretreatment should be applicable to a range of raw materials with low energy demand at low capital and operating costs. Furthermore, the sugar recovery should be high with low or no degradation into inhibitory substances [30]. However, the most common practice is that different pretreatment methods are combined in a cost effective way. The methods of choice are also highly dependent on the specific raw material [3,30]. As an example, a common treatment of spruce, Picea abies, can be mentioned. The raw material first undergoes a physical pretreatment, chipping or milling for size reduction. The chips are impregnated with SO<sub>2</sub> or H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and pretreated with steam for a few minutes at high pressure and temperature, followed by a rapid pressure release [33]. This degrades the hemicellulose and decreases the crystallinity of the cellulose. Thereafter, enzymatic hydrolysis of the cellulose can follow. Acid catalysed steam explosion was used to create the hydrolysates used in this thesis and is referred to when pretreated biomass or hydrolysates are discussed in the following chapters of this thesis. Steam explosion can also be performed without added catalyst. In this case, acids released or formed from the material at high temperatures will cause autohydrolysis. However, this process works significantly better for hardwood, with more highly acetylated hemicellulose, than for softwood [34].

#### 2.5 Hydrolysis of cellulose

In the hydrolysis step, the cellulose is hydrolysed into fermentable glucose monomers. There are mainly two ways to hydrolyse cellulose: chemically by acid catalysis, including hydrolysis of the hemicellulose, and biologically through treatment with a mixture of hydrolysing enzymes.

#### 2.5.1 Acid hydrolysis

Acid hydrolysis can be carried out with either concentrated or dilute acid, with distinct differences between the methods. The concentrated acid process operates at a low temperature of around 30–40°C, usually utilising  $H_2SO_4$  because of its low cost, but HCl and HF have also been used [34,35]. The hydrolysis yields are good, with up to 90% of the theoretical hexoses and pentoses released. In addition to this, the degradation of

sugars into inhibitory compounds is low [36]. However, drawbacks of the method include the requirement of an efficient acid recovery process as well as the corrosiveness of the acid used [34,35]. It is, therefore, difficult to make the process economically feasible and there is nowadays little focus on this process.

The dilute acid process operates with significantly lower concentrations of acid, usually less than 2%. For this reason the hydrolysis has to be operated at a higher temperature (180–230°C) than the concentrated process in order to achieve high reaction rates [35]. The high temperature and low pH causes degradation of the sugar monomers into toxic compounds, as further discussed in the next chapter of this thesis. Accordingly, the process is often divided into two stages. First, the more easily hydrolysed hemicellulose is broken down and removed. Thereafter, the remaining solids are treated under harsher conditions [35]. The sugar yields from this process are around 50–60% and up to 90% of the theoretical, for the cellulosic part and the hemicellulosic part, respectively [34]. A mild version of the dilute acid hydrolysis can also be considered as a pretreatment step, since it opens up the material and reduces the crystallinity of the cellulose. It is thereafter followed by enzymatic hydrolysis of the remaining solids.

### 2.5.2 Enzymatic hydrolysis

Enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose is performed by a class of enzymes called cellulases. These enzymes are produced naturally by microorganisms that derive their energy from cellulose degradation in nature, such as fungi that grows on rotting wood or microorganisms in the rumen of cows, but also by various insects [37]. The most famous producer of cellulases is the fungus *Hypocrina jecorina*, formerly known as *Trichoderma reesei*. It was first isolated from the US army's cotton canvas tents on the Solomon Islands during the Second World War, after it was found to be the cause of severe deterioration of the cotton [38]. This fungus is used in commercial production of cellulases, with the ability to produce enzyme titres in excess of 100 g/l [39].

Three major classes of cellulases are known to be necessary for complete hydrolysis of cellulose into glucose monomers: endo-1,4- $\beta$ -D-glucanases, exo-1,4- $\beta$ -D-glucanases and 1,4- $\beta$ -D-glucosidases [40]. However, another enzyme family, GH61, has recently been shown to be of importance for degradation of crystalline cellulose. Enzymes from this family catalyse oxidative cleavage of cellulose chains on the surface of the cellulose

fibre, including even their crystalline form [21]. Endo-glucanases cleave  $\beta$ -1,4-glycosidic bonds randomly inside the cellulose polymer. Thereby, two chains with twice as many ends are created. This is utilised by the exo-glucanases, or cellobiohydrolases as they are also called, which cleave off cellobiose units from both ends of cellulose fibres. The cellobiose units are in turn hydrolysed into two glucose molecules by the 1,4- $\beta$ glucosidases [40].

### 2.6 Process configurations for enzymatic hydrolysis

There are two main ways to perform the enzymatic hydrolysis of the cellulose for bioethanol production (Figure 3). Either it is done separately from the fermentation, called separate hydrolysis and fermentation – SHF, or in the same reactor, called simultaneous saccharification and fermentation – SSF. SSF is termed SSCF if co-fermentation of hexoses and pentoses is performed by a microorganism that ferments pentoses [6]. Which route is best is highly debated and probably dependent on the specific raw material, as well as the enzymes and microorganism used.

Separate hydrolysis and fermentation has certain advantages in that it enables optimisation of the process parameters in both reactors where the hydrolysis and fermentation take place [36]. This can speed up the process, but the high concentration of sugar reached in the hydrolysis reactor may lead to end-product inhibition of the enzymes [41]. Another advantage of the separated processes is easier reuse of the microorganisms used in the fermentation. Since they are only mixed with the liquid part of the hydrolysate, they can easily be separated from the product, as compared to the SSF process where the cells are mixed with the liquin residue [36].

In simultaneous saccharification and fermentation, the process parameters have to be a compromise between the optimal for the enzymes and the optimal for the fermenting microorganism. This usually means that the temperature is held at or below 37°C, when *S. cerevisiae* is used. This is slightly higher than what is preferred for optimal fermentative performance [42]. However, it is significantly lower than the optimal temperature for cellulases, typically 45–50°C [36]. Plenty of work has been and is being done to increase the thermotolerance of the fermenting microorganism and to find new strains with better heat tolerance [43-46]. Engineering of and search for new cellulases

has also been conducted [47]. A benefit of the SSF process is the need for a single reactor, which lowers the capital investment costs of a plant [6]. However, the greatest advantage of the process is that the product of the saccharification, the glucose, can be immediately consumed by the fermenting microorganism. This decreases the effect of product inhibition of the cellulases, increasing the hydrolysis rate [42].

A third way to perform the enzymatic hydrolysis is by so called consolidated bioprocessing, CBP, which is actually a form of SSF. In CBP, the microorganisms that convert the sugar monomers into ethanol also produce the enzymes necessary for hydrolysis of the cellulose [48]. There are two different options that can be chosen in CBP, the recombinant and the native. In the recombinant option, cellulases are expressed recombinantly in a good ethanol producer, such as *S. cerevisiae* [49]. In the native option, improvements in e.g. the ethanol tolerance of native cellulase producers such as *Clostridium thermocellum* have to be made [50]. The advantages of a successful CBP are obvious, since the cost of enzymes needed for cellulose hydrolysis constitutes a major portion of the cost of the final product in SHF and SSF processes [11]. However, the same challenges as for SSF often apply, with different temperature and other parameter optima for the cellulases and the fermenting microorganisms. Although there has been some progress in the field, successful fermentations of industrial substrates has not yet been demonstrated, as most research has been done on amorphous cellulose [51].



**Figure 3 Process configurations in 2<sup>nd</sup> generation bioethanol production.** Three different process configurations are commonly mentioned in bioethanol production. In SHF, the hydrolysis, by pre-produced enzymes and fermentation are done in two separate stages. In SSF, the two steps are performed in a single reactor. In CBP, the fermenting microorganisms also produce the enzymes for cellulose hydrolysis.

# **CHAPTER 3**

# YEAST IN 2<sup>ND</sup> GENERATION BIOETHANOL PRODUCTION

As mentioned in the previous chapter, ethanol is produced through fermentation of sugars by the yeast *S. cerevisiae*. A number of physiological traits are of fundamental importance to understand when it comes to the performance of microorganisms and the influence of the external factors prevailing in second generation ethanol production. Stress responses and resistance to various fermentation inhibitors are of major importance. In this chapter, the problems with fermentation inhibitors formed during the pretreatment step of lignocellulosic materials, as well as different stress responses, are presented. Methods used to study the physiology of the yeast cells are discussed and the fermentation process and different process modes are described.

#### 3.1 Hexose utilisation

The most important part of the ethanol production process is the fermentation of sugars into ethanol. The yeast S. cerevisiae is a facultative anaerobe, which means that it can grow both in the absence and presence of oxygen. However, unsaturated fatty acids and ergosterol have to be supplied during anaerobic growth, as they cannot be produced without oxygen [52,53]. To sustain growth, the yeast has to produce ATP from breakdown of energy rich materials, with glucose as the preferred substrate (Figure 4). Under aerobic conditions, in the presence of O<sub>2</sub>, the pyruvate and NADH produced in the glycolysis can be completely oxidised in the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle and respiration chain into CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O. Under fermentative, anaerobic, conditions on the other hand, the pyruvate is converted into ethanol via acetaldehyde. Ethanol production yields a net total of only two ATP per glucose molecule by substrate level phosphorylation in glycolysis. This is significantly lower than the ATP production per glucose in the respiratory route [54]. Ethanol production regenerates the NAD<sup>+</sup> from the NADH and makes the route redox neutral, just like the respiratory route. Despite the fact that fermentation does not result in additional ATP production, it is still preferred over the respiratory route for S. cerevisiae. Even under fully aerobic conditions, the fermentative pathway is chosen when the yeast is transferred to a medium with excess

glucose [55]. This phenomenon of fermentation in the presence of oxygen is known as the Crabtree effect, discovered in cancer cells by Crabtree in the 1920s [56,57]. The short-term Crabtree effect, fermentation after transition to sugar excess in glucoselimited chemostats, is believed to be an effect of the limited rate of the respiratory pathway. This leads to ethanol formation due to overflow at the pyruvate branch point, as the rate through glycolysis is faster than the carbon flux that can be processed through respiration [58]. There is also a long-term Crabtree effect, appearing e.g. in a batch with glucose excess or a glucose-limited chemostat operated over a certain dilution rate [59]. This effect involves adaptation of the cellular metabolism, with e.g. glucose repression of genes involved in respiration [60]. The need for a high rate of energy generation rather than full energy utilisation is tentatively an evolutionary adaptation. As a result of its fast glucose consumption, S. cerevisiae could outcompete other yeasts by 'eating the food first'. The production of significant amounts of ethanol, which it tolerates better than many other yeasts and bacteria, can subsequently also be utilised as food [61]. However, the yeast cells do not simply want to produce energy and ethanol, they mainly want to produce biomass - more yeast cells. The biomass formation does not result in complete regeneration of NAD<sup>+</sup>. Thus, there will be a surplus of NADH that has to be oxidised to maintain an internal redox balance. The cells therefore produce glycerol, which is why glycerol and biomass formation are naturally linked.

What is described above is valid not only for glucose, but also for other hexoses present in plant material. Mannose, which is a C-2 epimer of glucose, can also be easily utilised by *S. cerevisiae*. The utilisation is performed simultaneously with glucose and it is taken up by the same family of transporters, the Hxt family. However, the mannose uptake has a slightly lower affinity [62]. Before mannose can enter the glycolysis pathway, it has to be converted into mannose-6-phospate and subsequently isomerised into fructose-6phosphate. Thereafter, the same route as for glucose is followed [63]. Another hexose commonly present in lignocellulosic hydrolysates, galactose, is a C-4 epimer of glucose. However it is not as easily utilised as glucose and mannose. Galactose enters the glycolysis pathway as glucose-6-phosphate via the action of the enzymes in the Leloir pathway: galactokinase, galactose-1-P uridylyltransferase and UDP-galactose 4epimerase [64]. The expression of these enzymes is repressed by high levels of glucose, which leads to a sequential utilisation of the two hexoses. Galactose is thus not utilised until glucose is almost depleted and the pathway has been induced by the presence of galactose [65]. Galactose is taken up by the galactose permease Gal2p [66]. Gal2p can also transport other hexoses, while the Hxt family transporters do not transport galactose [67]. The uptake of sugars is further discussed in section 6.5.

To produce biomass, reducing power in the form of NADPH is also needed. It is utilised in the production of lipids as well as nucleic and amino acids [68]. NADPH is generated in the Pentose Phosphate Pathway (PPP), which starts as a branch at glucose-6-phosphate in the glycolysis. Some of the compounds in the PPP pathway, such as erythrose-4-phosphate and ribose-5-phosphate, are also used as building blocks for further production of amino and nucleic acids. As will be discussed in the following section, the PPP pathway is also important for xylose metabolism by *S. cerevisiae*.

#### 3.2 Pentose uptake and fermentation

A major drawback of using *S. cerevisiae* for  $2^{nd}$  generation bioethanol production is that most strains do not naturally possess the ability to utilise pentoses, which are abundant in the hemicellulose fraction of the lignocellulose. However, there are *S. cerevisiae* strains that show slow utilisation [69]. Other microorganisms, both bacteria and yeasts, do however possess this ability. An example is *Scheffersomyces stipitis*, formerly known as *Pichia stipitis* [70]. However, the bacteria and yeasts naturally able to ferment pentoses are not optimal for ethanol production for other reasons, such as ethanol sensitivity [71]. Therefore, strategies of recombinant expression of genes necessary for xylose utilisation in *S. cerevisiae* predominate [7].

The two genes that enable xylose utilisation, usually taken from *S. stipitis*, are *XYL1* and *XYL2*, which encode a xylose reductase (XR) and a xylitol dehydrogenase (XDH), respectively. These enzymes convert the xylose into D-xylulose, which will be converted into D-xylulose 5-phosphate by the endogenous *S. cerevisiae* xylulokinase (Figure 4). There is also an alternative route to D-xylulose used by some microorganisms, primarily bacteria, where a single enzyme, xylose isomerase, directly converts the xylose into xylulose. The isomerase route does not require the cofactors NAD(P)H and NAD<sup>+</sup>, which are needed in the oxidoreductive XR/XDH pathway [72-74]. The fact that no cofactors are needed is an advantage, as xylose utilisation can otherwise lead to a redox imbalance. The redox imbalance in the XR/XDH pathway can to some extent be overcome by



**Figure 4** Sugar catabolism in *S. cerevisiae* and possible routes for xylose utilisation. The utilisation of the major monomeric carbohydrates present in lignocellulosic hydrolysates by *S. cerevisiae* all go through the glycolysis, although they go through different steps on their way there. Glucose and mannose are preferred by the yeast and the utilisation is mostly simultaneous. Galactose requires the action of several additional enzymes, whose expression, most importantly the transporters, and hence the utilisation, is repressed by the presence of glucose. Xylose metabolism requires expression of one or two recombinant proteins. Furthermore, the uptake of xylose into the cell is hindered by high concentrations of glucose, since the same transporters, which prefer glucose, are used.

using a mutated xylose reductase that prefers NADH [75]. D-xylulose 5-phosphate produced by either route enters the native S. cerevisiae PPP pathway, as mentioned in the previous section. However, the xylulokinase has been observed as becoming a ratelimiting step in S. cerevisiae strains that carry XYL1 and XYL2. Therefore, it is often overexpressed in recombinant xylose utilising S. cerevisiae strains [76]. Once D-xylulose 5-phosphate has entered the PPP pathway, it can be converted into fructose-6-phosphate and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate that are both intermediates in the glycolysis pathway (Figure 4). In addition to the three above-mentioned genes, genes that encode enzymes in the non-oxidative PPP can also be overexpressed to ensure fast conversion of xylulose into glycolytic intermediates [77-80]. Furthermore, in order to decrease the amount of xylitol accumulation by improving the redox balance, the native aldose reductase GRE3 can be deleted [79,80]. The aldose reductase encoded by *GRE3* is NADPH-specific and will thus cause an imbalance when used together with the NAD-specific xylitol dehydrogenase (Figure 4). Attempts to overexpress GRE3 together with xylitol dehydrogenase and xylulokinase showed that the resulting strain fermented xylose. However, it had severe redox imbalance problems under anaerobic conditions [81]. Recently, specific xylose transporters have been isolated and shown to improve the xylose utilisation when overexpressed in S. cerevisiae [82]. The strategy of utilising specific pentose transporters has the potential to allow simultaneous xylose and glucose utilisation, as there would be no competition in their uptake.

Arabinose, the second most abundant pentose in lignocellulosic materials, can also be utilised in *S. cerevisiae* for ethanol production with expression of recombinant genes. This can be done by either expression of a bacterial pathway including an isomerase, or a fungal pathway based on a reductase and a dehydrogenase [83,84].

#### 3.3 Protection against stress

For yeast cells to grow and function, homeostasis has to be maintained. Enzymes require certain pH and temperature for optimal activity, and cellular structures can be destabilised by the same perturbations. Perturbations can also disturb chemical gradients, thus disrupting the metabolic fluxes in the cells. Furthermore, the cells have to be able to withstand osmotic shocks and oxidative damage. In order to counteract these kinds of perturbations, yeast cells have a number of defence mechanisms at their disposal.

A common stress response includes production and accumulation of molecules that act as protectants of the cells. An example is trehalose, which is also a storage carbohydrate. Trehalose stabilises proteins and membranes in the cells. It is accumulated, for example, during heat shock and starvation [85,86]. Another example is glycerol, which is important in the response to osmotic stress. Glycerol is accumulated in yeast cells upon hyperosmotic stress, by closing the Fps1p channel that otherwise lets produced glycerol exit the cells [87]. In this way, the osmotic stress is counteracted by an increase in the intracellular osmolarity.

Oxidative stress is caused by too high concentrations of reactive oxygen species (ROS). This stress can damage membranes, DNA and proteins in the cells by oxidation. Oxidised proteins can lose their function, sometimes irreversibly, which is why protection against ROS is extremely important [88]. Yeast cells have both enzymatic protection systems against ROS and the ability to produce small antioxidant molecules such as glutathione. Glutathione is a tripeptide with two thiol groups that can be oxidised reversibly while the ROS are neutralised [88]. An increased production of glutathione can thus make cells more robust [89].

Another stress response that is common to many stresses is the expression of heat shock proteins, hsps [90]. Many of these proteins are chaperones that assist in the refolding of misfolded proteins, and prevent polypeptide chains from aggregating [91]. Many stresses lead to accumulation of misfolded proteins in the ER. If this problem is not solved by the cells, it can lead to severe cellular damage. Therefore, the hsps help to decrease the effect of various unfavourable conditions. In addition to the hsps, many other responses to stresses are often the same, for seemingly unrelated stresses. Furthermore, cells can become better prepared to handle a second stress after being subjected to a first. This is referred to as cross-tolerance and is further discussed in section 6.4.

As will be described in the following section, certain inhibitory compounds can also be detoxified *in situ* by the cells, by conversion into less inhibitory substances. Other compounds can be pumped out of the cells, commonly facilitated by active transporters that require energy for their operation [92,93]. However, if the perturbation by the compounds is not transient, pumping out the compounds can lead to a futile cycle. The ATP demand to keep the compound out of the cells will then lead to ATP depletion. Therefore, for the cells to survive it is necessary that they adapt to the compound, by

changes in the membrane composition for example, which may make the cells less permeable to the compound.

#### 3.4 Lignocellulose derived inhibitors and their effects on the cells

During the pretreatment and non-enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosic material, with sometimes extreme pH, temperature and pressure, the material is not only broken down to the sought after sugar monomers. Degradation products that are inhibitory to the subsequent fermentation are also formed. Furthermore, the degradation into the inhibitory compounds leads to a loss of fermentable sugars. Therefore, the pretreatment should be performed as mildly as possible to obtain high sugar yields with low inhibitor concentrations in the hydrolysate.

Differences in composition between different raw materials, as well as different pretreatment methods, cause the concentrations of different inhibitors to vary widely between different lignocellulosic hydrolysates [24,94]. The lignocellulose derived inhibitors are commonly divided into three classes: furan aldehydes, carboxylic acids and phenolic compounds [5]. It has however been argued that a more suitable classification would be based on the functional groups of the inhibitors has also been done, specifically, into the anaerobically readily convertible and not readily convertible inhibitors. The former class, including e.g. the furan aldehydes, can rapidly be converted into less inhibitory compounds, whereas those in the latter class are not converted, such as the carboxylic acids, as mentioned further on in this chapter. Among the phenolic compounds, there are both those that are converted and those that are not [96].

#### 3.4.1 Furan aldehydes

The furan aldehydes class is generally said to consist of two inhibitory compounds: 2furaldehyde, or furfural, and 5-hydroxymethyl-2-furaldehyde (HMF) that are derived from pentoses and hexoses, respectively [5]. They are formed at high temperatures and low pH by dehydration of the sugars [97]. Considering the conditions often used for pretreatment of lignocellulosic materials, it is easy to understand that the furan aldehydes can be found in significant amounts in pretreated lignocellulose. The inhibitory effect of furfural, in particular, has been thoroughly studied, although everything is not yet elucidated [98-106]. The effect can easily be observed in that there is usually a lag phase where the furfural is converted into less inhibitory compounds prior to the fermentation of glucose. The fermentation rate also decreases; moreover, too high concentrations lead to an inability to fully detoxify the medium and thus an incomplete fermentation (Figure 5). Since the furan aldehydes can be converted *in situ*, the inhibitor to cell ratio is of importance for the fermentative performance of the yeast [105]. Successful fermentations can therefore be achieved with e.g. fed batch or membrane bioreactors. Here, the cells can be held at a high concentration compared to the inhibitors, resulting in a maintained efficient conversion [106,107]. The furan aldehydes are mainly converted into their less inhibitory corresponding alcohols under anaerobic conditions [99,108].

The adversary effects of furan aldehydes on microbial cells are numerous. In addition to the mentioned lag phase and slower fermentation rate, the viability of the cells is also decreased. This is likely an effect as a result of the induction of ROS that damages the membranes and DNA of the cells [109]. Several enzymes involved in the production of ethanol are also inhibited by the furan aldehydes. An example is the alcohol dehydrogenases that are thought to be involved in the detoxification to the corresponding



**Figure 5 Furfural inhibition of fermentation.** The inhibitory effect of furfural on the glucose (open symbols) consumption can be observed in anaerobic batch experiments with 0 g/l (circles), 1 g/l (triangles) and 2 g/l (squares) of furfural (closed symbols) in the medium. At the lower furfural concentration, a lag phase during which the furfural was converted was observed, compared to the medium without furfural. At the highest concentration of furfural, virtually no glucose consumption occurred and less than half of the furfural was converted. [Data from Paper IV.]

alcohols [99,109,110]. Furfural can also act as a redox sink. Thus, in the presence of furfural the glycerol production decreases, which can be beneficial for the ethanol production process [102]. The redox sink effect can also be beneficial for xylose fermenting yeasts, where furfural can act as an electron acceptor during reoxidation of the excess NADH produced. Xylitol accumulation can thereby be decreased [111].

#### 3.4.2 Weak carboxylic acids

The fact that weak acids are potent inhibitors of microorganisms has been 'known' for centuries, as food is believed to have been pickled since 2400 BC [112]. The food can either be stored in vinegar, acetic acid, or be anaerobically fermented to produce lactic acid. The weak acids relevant for 2<sup>nd</sup> generation bioethanol are: acetic, formic and levulinic acid, which are derived from deacetylation of hemicellulose and degradation of furan aldehydes, respectively [113]. Some phenolic compounds are also weak acids, but are usually not placed in this class. At high concentrations the acids are strongly inhibitory to the cells, due to intracellular acidification and accumulation of anions [109]. The pH of the medium is very important for the toxicity of acids, as the undissociated forms can easily pass through the membrane from the medium of lower pH to the cytosol with higher pH. The undissociated forms of the acids, and not only the H<sup>+</sup>, are therefore toxic [114]. With pKa values in the range of 3.75–4.75, the weak acids will dissociate once they are inside the cells. This leads to decreased pH values and necessitates the H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase pumps to pump out the excess protons [115]. Acetic acid can, therefore, at low concentrations be beneficial for the fermentation, since the pumps require energy in the form of ATP. This is obtained by production of more ethanol, which increases the ethanol yield while the biomass and glycerol yields are reduced [33,116]. However, if the concentration of the acid is too high, the pH of the cells will inevitably be lowered beyond the capacity of the cells. This leads to disrupted fermentation and cell death. The toxicity of the acids has been determined to be in the following order of increased toxicity: acetic acid < levulinic acid < formic acid [33]. Accumulation of the anions inside the cells has also been brought forward as the main effect of toxicity, at least in the case of bacteria [117]. The anionic form of the acids gets trapped inside the cells and accumulates until there is equilibrium of the undissociated form over the membrane. This will eventually lead to toxic anion concentrations. However, anions of small carboxylic acids can also be transported out of the cells. The transporter proteins responsible for this

act by active transport [92]. Hence, this process, just as the process of maintaining the intracellular pH by transporting  $H^+$ , requires ATP and can lead to ATP depletion.

#### 3.4.3 Phenolic compounds

The inhibitor class termed phenolic compounds is not surprisingly the most heterogeneous, since it is derived from lignin, the most heterogeneous polymeric constituent of the raw material [5,29]. For this reason, the nature of the phenolic compounds in different hydrolysates is clearly mostly affected by the source of the raw material, as the composition of the building blocks vary between different plants [5]. Spruce, as an example, contains mainly phenolic compounds derived from guaiacyl – coniferyl alcohol [118]. The toxic effect of phenolic inhibitors often increases in the order: alcohols < acids < aldehydes [109]. This might also be a reason for the lower inhibitory effect of the furan alcohols compared to the aldehydes. Smaller phenolic compounds are also generally more toxic than high molecular weight compounds [5]. The hydrophobicity of the compounds also affects the toxicity, with more hydrophobic compounds being more toxic [96,119]. This is related to their interactions with biological membranes. The function of the membranes is disturbed through disturbance of their integrity [120].

### 3.5 Investigations of cellular physiology

In order to understand the changes in fermentation performance that are observed upon changes in e.g. operational parameters or differences in media composition, it is necessary to study the physiology of the fermenting cells. Cellular responses often involve many different, connected, processes in the cells, which are regulated on the level of gene transcription. To study these responses, genome-wide analyses are often performed. Genome-wide studies of the cellular physiology can be made either on gene transcript level, mRNA, on protein level or on metabolite level. The most commonly used method is to investigate gene expression using microarray or qPCR experiments, comparing mRNA levels of different samples [121,122]. With a microarray, the expression levels of all genes in an organism can be compared over different samples. A microarray contains short DNA probes from each gene in the genome of the microorganism. By hybridisation of labelled cDNA from the samples onto the chips and

detection of the labels from different samples, a relative quantification can be performed. In qPCR, fewer, specific genes are usually investigated. Here, the cDNA is amplified using PCR and quantified using fluorescence.

However, it is on the protein level that actual cellular events take place and there is not always a linear relationship between mRNA levels and protein levels [123,124]. Unfortunately, it is not as straightforward to measure the levels of all proteins in a cell, as it is to measure mRNA levels using a chip. The first challenge is that all proteins are not easily and equally isolated from the cells. Membrane bound proteins can be especially difficult to isolate. Furthermore, the proteins have to be individually identified and the expression levels compared between different samples. Thus, it is easy to understand that a genome wide coverage on the protein level is not easily attainable. Two commonly used proteomic methods, 2D-DIGE and nLC-MS/MS, are briefly described in section 6.3 and also in Paper III. Adding an additional level of information, post-translational modifications (PTMs) of proteins can also occur. These can be detected with proteomics and be of great importance for the cellular physiology [125]. Changes in abundance are slower on the protein level than on the mRNA level, as DNA is transcribed into mRNA, which is thereafter translated to the corresponding protein. This can be of importance in the design of a genome-wide study, as the sampling of the cells should be considered. For example, cells encapsulated in membrane capsules have to be mechanically released from the capsules. This increases the sampling time somewhat compared to what can be achieved for freely suspended cells. However, it is important to remember that the levels of both mRNA and proteins are not necessarily of importance for the physiology. It is ultimately the activity of the proteins that determines the function of the cells.

A measure of the activity of the cells can be determined by investigations of the metabolome – metabolomics. In metabolomics, as many metabolites in a cell as possible are measured, using enzymatic reactions or various chromatographic methods (e.g. HPLC, GC), usually coupled to mass spectrometry. Since metabolites are generally not very stable, a fast and efficient extraction and quenching protocol is a prerequisite for successful metabolomics [126].

The large data sets generated by the methods mentioned above enable a deep understanding of cellular physiology. However, the vast amount of data also creates challenges for the interpreter, as it may be difficult to discern which of the changes that are important. Specifically, to identify a single gene, gene product or pathway that has important effects on the phenotype of an organism, as hypothetically may be the case for encapsulated yeast, is not necessarily easy with these approaches. The levels of transcripts or products of many other genes may also change upon changes in conditions, potentially concealing the most important changes.

### 3.6 Modes of cell cultivation/fermentation

There are a number of different modes of system configurations during fermentations [127]. These include different reactor configurations as well as modes to operate the reactors. The easiest system is a batch reactor. Here, all substrates and cells are added to the reactor at the start of the batch and taken out in the end. A system that is of high importance for fundamental studies, is the continuous system. In such a system, substrates are added in a continuous flow into the reactor, where the cells perform the fermentation, and products are continuously taken out of the reactor. This system, at stable conditions, reaches a steady state and becomes a chemostat. The cells then grow at the same specific growth rate as the dilution rate of the reactor [127]. This is of great importance for studies of cell physiology, as the growth rate can be kept the same while e.g. the medium composition is changed. However, this is the case only for cells freely suspended in the medium. If the cells are retained inside the reactor, a steady state may not be achieved. The third common reactor configuration is the fed-batch system. It brings together benefits from both the batch and the continuous system. It is started as a batch, with cells in a small volume of medium. After an initial start-up period, more medium is added continuously, without an outflow. In this way, inhibitors in the medium, if they can be converted, can be kept at a low level throughout the fermentation [128,129]. Fed-batch is also the best way to produce yeast biomass, as the glucose level can be kept low [130]. Thereby, the respiratory route of S. cerevisiae is favoured, as described in section 3.1. Accordingly, more than five times as much biomass can be produced compared to the fermentative, anaerobic, route [131].

In the current thesis project, batch cultivations with shake flasks have been the choice for cell cultivations. The reason was mainly due to their ease of use when performing a large number of experiments and easier comparisons between 'freely suspended' and, by different means, immobilised cells.

#### 3.7 Cell retention

Retention of biologically active material, in the form of cells or enzymes, is a cost effective way of increasing the volumetric productivity of a bioreactor, by increasing the amount of biocatalyst present [132]. In addition to increased productivity of the system, it also enables higher dilution rates of continuous systems [133-136]. This is a significant benefit in industrial settings. However, it is of less interest to study experimentally, since more cells will obviously perform a task faster than fewer cells. In addition to this, cell retention also enables easier separation of the product from the catalyst [137]. The separation of cells from the produced ethanol is otherwise an energy demanding process. In many cases, cell retention will also lead to a lower growth rate. Implications of lower growth rate will be further discussed in Chapter 6.

Cell retention can be performed in a number of ways, for example, adsorption to a surface, chemical cross-linking, immobilisation in a matrix, encapsulation inside a membrane, or by self-flocculation (Figure 6) [138]. Encapsulation in a semi-permeable membrane and self-flocculation are further discussed in Chapters 4 and 5, respectively.



**Figure 6 Different methods of cell retention.** Different ways of cell retention or immobilisation are e.g. self-flocculation (a), adsorption to a surface (b), cross-linking (c), immobilisation in a matrix (d) and encapsulation inside a semi-permeable membrane (e). Figure from [138], reprinted with permission.

### 3.8 Inhibitor tolerance by high cell density cultures

Many strains of S. cerevisiae are capable of in situ detoxification of toxic hydrolysates, as described in section 3.4. However, for the cells to be able to detoxify the medium fast enough, the ratio of inhibitors per cells must be rather low. This can be achieved in different ways. First, the inhibitor concentration can be kept low by a constant slow inflow of medium, by the use of fed-batch [107,129] or continuous cultivations [101]. Secondly, a high capacity of the system to detoxify a medium can be achieved, for example, through a high inoculum concentration in a batch [139]. This decreases the lag phase by an increased rate of furfural conversion. In continuous processes, the cell concentration can be increased by cell retention. In addition to the types of cell retention shown in Figure 6, it can also be achieved through cell recirculation [139,140]. By recirculating the cells in a continuous system, the cells can continue to convert inhibitors even though their growth rate does not match the dilution rate of the system. In fermentations with cell retention by membrane bioreactors, the concentration of furfural could be increased to as high as 17 g/l in the feed, with maintained performance [106]. However, in this case the ratio of inhibitors per cells was rather low, since the cell concentration reached up to around 170 g DW/l. In this perspective, 17 g/l furfural in the inlet medium is not necessarily experienced as a very high concentration for the cells. At a high cell concentration, the cells simply convert the furfural rapidly enough to make the toxic effect almost negligible. Furthermore, as a result of this, the concentration experienced by the cells will be low in a balanced continuous system, as the inlet feed is instantaneously mixed with the entire reactor volume. In order for this to work, it is also important that the furfural does not have an immediate toxic effect. If it is rapidly converted, the cells will survive even high concentration pulses of furfural [106]. In this thesis, however, I have investigated what happens when the cells have a low concentration relative to the inhibitors in the reactor, but a high cell concentration locally.
## 3.9 Improved hydrolysate fermentation by high *local* cell density cultures

Yeast, at high local cell density in the form of flocculating strains, has been reported to possess tolerance towards toxic hydrolysates (Table 1). However, the good performance of the flocculating strains has often been attributed to isolation from industrial locations, rather than being linked to the flocculation. Industrial conditions lead to requirements for higher robustness compared to the laboratory environment. Encapsulation of yeast in semi-permeable gel membranes has been observed to improve the fermentation performance of a non-tolerant strain in lignocellulosic hydrolysates (Table 1). A macromolecular characterisation of the encapsulated yeast has been performed, revealing changes upon prolonged encapsulation [141]. However, no conclusive explanation for the improved performance in hydrolysates has been given.

Mode of high local cell density	Yeast strain used	Medium fermented	Mode of operation	Ref
Flocculation	CCUG53310	Spruce hydrolysate	Continuous & batch	[136]
Flocculation	KF-7	Wood hydrolysate	Continuous	[142]
Flocculation	ATCC96581	Spent sulphite liquor	Batch	[143]
Flocculation	ATCC96581	Synthetic medium with inhibitor cocktail	Batch	[144]
Flocculation	ATCC96581	Spruce hydrolysate	Batch & fed-batch	[128]
Flocculation	TMB3720	Spent sulphite liquor	Batch	[145]
Encapsulation	CBS8066	Spruce hydrolysate & Synthetic medium with 5 g/l furfural	Batch	[8]
Encapsulation	CBS8066	Spruce hydrolysate	Continuous	[134]

Table 1 Examples of high local cell density cultures showing tolerance to toxic media.

#### 3.10 Challenges for commercialisation of 2<sup>nd</sup> generation bioethanol

As described above, there are a number of issues related to the production of  $2^{nd}$  generation compared to the  $1^{st}$  generation bioethanol, which explains why successful commercialisation has not been realised yet. Two of these issues are addressed in this thesis (Figure 7). The first issue is the tolerance towards inhibitory compounds formed during the harsh pretreatment and hydrolysis of the recalcitrant raw materials used for  $2^{nd}$  generation bioethanol. The second issue is the fact that the preferred microorganism for production, *S. cerevisiae*, even with expression of recombinant pathways, cannot simultaneously utilise all sugars present in the produced hydrolysate. The results in this thesis show that there may be a common solution to these two problems: *High local cell density*.



Figure 7 Challenges in  $2^{nd}$  generation bioethanol production addressed in the thesis. Lignocellulosic materials contain both pentoses and hexoses with the potential of being converted into ethanol through fermentation. However, most strains of *S. cerevisiae* do not naturally possess the ability to utilise the pentoses present. This necessitates genetic modifications of the strains to be used in the ethanol production process. For these strains, simultaneous utilisation of hexoses and pentoses remains a problem. Furthermore, the pretreatment step necessary to break up the recalcitrant structure of the raw material often creates a number of inhibitors that the fermenting microorganism has to cope with. These two obstacles have to be solved in order to obtain an economically feasible  $2^{nd}$  generation bioethanol production process.

### **CHAPTER 4**

## **ENCAPSULATION**

In the literature, there are different definitions of cell encapsulation. It can be used to describe both immobilisation/entrapment in a gel matrix, as well as encapsulation within a semi-permeable membrane capsule (Figure 6 D & E). The latter definition, with a liquid core holding the encapsulated cells, is used in the current thesis. The cells inside the capsules can obtain nutrients through the membrane, as well as excrete products through it, but they cannot themselves leave the capsules. The technique for yeast encapsulation for ethanol production has been around for two decades [146]. A number of improvements to the capsules and production process have been made over the years, as will be briefly reviewed in the following section.

#### 4.1 Methods and materials of encapsulation

The most commonly used materials for encapsulation of cells are natural organic polyelectrolytes such as alginate (Figure 8 A) [138]. Alginate is a negatively charged polymer that consists of two different building blocks,  $\alpha$ -L-guluronic acid and  $\beta$ -Dmannuronic acid [147]. Alginate forms gels when mixed with divalent cations, e.g. calcium ions, whereby guluronic acid residues are linked together by the cations (Figure 8 A) [148]. When a cell suspension with a high concentration of calcium ions (usually in the form of CaCl<sub>2</sub>) is dripped into a sodium alginate solution, the cells in the drops will be encapsulated. The encapsulation happens as the alginate forms a gel with the outer layer of Ca<sup>2+</sup> in the drop. Thereafter, the membrane becomes thicker by diffusion of the internal Ca<sup>2+</sup> out of the newly formed capsule. The cores of the capsules remain as a liquid because the alginate molecules cannot diffuse through the membrane. This capsule production method is known as the one-step method, or the liquid droplet formation method [149]. Another way to produce liquid core capsules is by the two-step method. In this method, beads are first formed when a cell solution mixed with alginate is dripped into a solution with high Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration. The beads are thereafter coated, for example, with chitosan (Figure 8 B), a polyvalent cationic polymer of 1,4-linked-2amino-2-deoxy- $\beta$ -D-glucan [150]. The chitosan molecules replace some of the Ca<sup>2+</sup> used

in the membrane. It can thereafter be followed by another, optional, layer of alginate [151,152]. However, the chitosan molecules will not reach the capsule core, which consists of Ca-alginate, because of its large molecular size. If the coated beads are thereafter treated with a chelating agent, such as citrate, the core will be liquefied as the  $Ca^{2+}$  are sequestered. Dissolving the core will lead to capsules with a liquid alginate core [151,152]. The capsules made by the one-step method can also be coated by chitosan, to create a stronger membrane (Figure 8 C) [153]. If this is not done, and  $Ca^{2+}$  is not added to the medium in excess, the capsules are weakened by a slow release of  $Ca^{2+}$  to the surrounding medium [146,154].

Non-ionic surfactants such as Nonoxynol<sub>95</sub> [146] or Tween 20 [154] are added to the alginate solution during capsule formation in order to improve the permeability of the capsules. The capsules are otherwise prone to accumulate bubbles of  $CO_2$  during fermentation using encapsulated yeast [146,154]. Adding these surfactants, however, may not be enough to ensure good gas permeability. If the yeast inside the capsules ferments a medium too fast, too much  $CO_2$  will almost inevitably be accumulated inside



**Figure 8 Encapsulation procedure and structures of alginate and chitosan.** A) Structure of alginate and the Ca-alginate gel. B) Structure of chitosan. C) Encapsulation procedure used in this thesis – a cell suspension containing calcium ions is dripped into a solution of Na-alginate, whereby thin capsules are formed instantaneously around the yeast cells. The capsules are thereafter treated with chitosan, which replaces some of the calcium ions and makes the capsules stronger. [Method used in Papers II, III & IV.]

the capsules. The capsules then float up to the surface of the medium and thereafter often burst from the high internal pressure.

When encapsulated, the cells tend to grow from one point inside the membrane. This results in the formation of a cell pellet already before the capsules are full with cells (Figure 9) [141]. This growth pattern is of importance for the benefits of encapsulated cells, discussed in Chapter 6.

A newly reported method for improving the strength of the capsules is to treat them with hydrolysed 2-aminopropyltrietoxysilane, hAPTES [155]. This treatment had a somewhat detrimental effect on the cell viability. However, by optimising the concentration of hAPTES used in the treatment, a balance could be found between the cell viability and improvement in capsule strength. The hAPTES has amino groups that react with the carboxylate groups on the alginate. Thereafter, silanol molecules undergo a condensation reaction that leads to the formation of a polysiloxane coating of the capsules. However, the problem with capsules rupturing due to rapid  $CO_2$  formation was observed also with these capsules.

One critical aspect of encapsulation, which remains and can likely not be solved, is that if the cells are not fermenting a perfectly fine tuned inhibitory medium, the cells will eventually grow until they totally fill up the capsules and start to leak out. If the medium is inhibitory at the right level, there can theoretically be a balance between the cells that divide and those that die, so that there is no net growth inside the capsules.



**Figure 9** Alginate-chitosan capsules. A) Capsules roughly half full with cells. B) Capsules filled up with cells.

## **CHAPTER 5**

## **FLOCCULATION OF S. CEREVISIAE**

In biology, flocculation is the process by which microorganisms asexually aggregate. This is of great benefit in many biotechnological applications, as it provides a simple and natural way of cell retention or separation from the product. The most commonly known application is probably beer production. Flocculation of brewery strains of yeast naturally occurs towards the end of the fermentation process, as the sugars in the wort are depleted. Flocculation thus provides an easy and energy efficient method of separating the yeast from the beer. In the case of beverage ethanol production, however, it is important that the flocculation does not start prematurely, as this can lead to off-flavours in the product [156]. In fuel ethanol production, this is not an issue and constitutive yeast flocculation can be used as a means of increasing the amount of cells in a continuous reactor at high dilution rates [136]. Other examples of biotechnological applications where flocculation can be used are the harvesting of microalgae [157] or retainment of digesting bacteria in anaerobic treatment of wastewater [158].

#### 5.1 Mechanism of yeast flocculation

Yeast flocculation is controlled by a number of genes called the *FLO* gene family [159]. The *FLO* genes, with the exception of *FLO8* which is a transcription factor [160], encode cell surface proteins anchored in the cell wall. These cell wall proteins, also called flocculins, have the ability to bind to carbohydrates present in the cell wall of neighbouring yeast cells with a lectin-like mechanism [161]. In this way, complexes of several millimetres can be obtained, even with constant agitation of the medium containing the cells (Figure 10). The fact that the proteins bind to carbohydrates also means that the flocculation can be inhibited by competitive binding of free sugars present in the sources of inhibition, flocculating yeast strains are divided into two different phenotypes, the Flo1 and the NewFlo phenotypes [164]. The flocculation of Flo1 strains is only affected by mannose, whereas the flocculation of NewFlo strains are commonly of the NewFlo

type and hence do not flocculate until all of the sugars in the medium are fermented. This facilitates an efficient fermentation and thereafter easy separation of the beer from the cells [165]. The major flocculation gene is *FLO1*, encoding a 1537 amino acid long protein with an interesting domain structure. The N-terminal domain of at least Flo5p and by homology also Flo1p and Flo9p, a so called PA14/Flo5-type domain, is responsible for sugar binding with two carbohydrate-binding loops [166]. The middle region of the protein consists of repeated sequences of 45 amino acids. This region makes up the largest difference between Flo1p and Flo5p and Flo9p, the other two flocculation proteins that give rise to strong flocculation in *S. cerevisiae* [167]. The C-terminal part of the protein contains a GPI modification site, which facilitates the anchoring of the protein in the cell wall of the yeast cells [168]. The transcription factor *FLO8* controls the expression of the *FLO10* gives rise to weak flocculation, whereas *FLO11*, or *MUC1* as it is also called, is responsible for invasive and pseudohyphal growth [169-171].



Figure 10 Flocculation creates large cell communities. A) Flocculating yeast cells attach to each other using cell wall proteins that bind to carbohydrates in the cell wall of neighbouring cells. This binding also requires calcium ions [166]. B) Through these bindings, strong cell complexes of several millimetres in diameter can be formed.

The natural variability of flocculation and flocculation genes in wild yeast strains has been addressed in several studies, e.g. [169,172,173]. The genes responsible for flocculation are known to be controlled by three signalling pathways, responding to stimuli from the environment, e.g. stress or nutrient limitation: the cAMP/PKA pathway, the MAPK-pathway and the glucose-repression pathway [165,171]. For industrial strains, however, the contribution of each pathway might be different, since this has been elucidated mainly for laboratory yeast strains. The initiation of flocculation during yeast cultivations has been shown to be affected by e.g. medium composition, cell age and anaerobic conditions, as well as by the hydrophobicity of the cells [169,174-179].

Most strains used for research in laboratories around the world have been selected for their lack of flocculation, since it enables easier experimental work. For example, flocculating cells are not equally distributed throughout the medium they are in. Hence, they cannot be quantified in the same way as freely suspended yeast, by turbidimetry. Sampling during cultivations also presents problems in that cell removal might be disproportionate to the medium removal. Since more or less cells can be removed, not necessarily related to the total cell concentration, the cell concentration will change when a sample of the medium is taken. This is an issue during batch cultivations, which nonetheless is the best way of comparing flocculating and non-flocculating strains. During continuous cultivations, significantly more biomass will be retained in the reactor for flocculating cells compared to non-flocculating. For strongly flocculating cells it is also evident that there will be cells exhibiting significantly different cell physiology in the same cultivation, which is normally not desired in the laboratory.

#### 5.2 Construction of recombinant flocculating yeast strains

In Paper V, a set of flocculating yeast strains was constructed by recombinant expression of variants of the *FLO1* gene isolated from *S. cerevisiae* S288C in *S. cerevisiae* CEN.PK 113–7D. *S. cerevisiae* CEN.PK 113–7D lacks the major flocculation genes in its genome and does not flocculate [180]. The lack of the flocculation genes makes it a perfect reference strain for investigations of the effects of flocculation. *S. cerevisiae* S288C is also a non-flocculating strain. However, the reason is not lack of the flocculation genes, but a nonsense mutation in *FLO8*, the transcriptional regulator [181]. Initially, the strategy for the construction of a flocculating strain was to insert the *FLO1* gene into a

vector after the *TDH3* promoter sequence. However, amplification of the plasmid in *E. coli* proved impossible, since the size of the *FLO1* gene was decreased after transformation. This has also been observed in other studies [182]. The amplified gene was therefore merged with a cassette containing the *kan*MX gene and the *TDH3* promoter sequence for control of the *FLO1* expression, using PCR. However, an optimal PCR program could not be found, despite numerous attempts to optimise using a number of different polymerases. The PCR products always appeared smeared when analysed on gels, with a range from the expected size towards smaller size. However, an attempt to transform the CEN.PK strain with the PCR-product, followed by selection on YPD plates with 200  $\mu$ g/ml G418 (Sigma), did give rise to transformants. A number of transformants were chosen and grown overnight in liquid medium, whereby some showed flocculation of different strengths. Three flocculating mutants were isolated and the inserted gene product was investigated by PCR and sequencing. The mutants were named after their strength of flocculation and are shown in Table 2 together with the other yeast strains used in this thesis.

Yeast strain	<b>Reference/Source</b>
CBS8066	CBS <sup>1</sup>
CCUG53310	[136]/CCUG <sup>2</sup>
S288C	[183]
CEN.PK 113–7D	$[184]/SR\&D^3$
CEN.PK 113–7D Weakly flocculating	This study, [Paper V]
CEN.PK 113-7D Intermediately flocculating	This study, [Paper V]
CEN.PK 113-7D Strongly flocculating	This study, [Paper V]
CEN.PK XXX	This study, [Paper IV]

Table 2 Yeast strains used in this thesis.

<sup>1</sup>CBS – Centraalbureau voor Schimmelcultures (Delft, the Netherlands),

<sup>2</sup>CCUG – Culture Collection at University of Gothenburg (Gothenburg, Sweden),

<sup>3</sup>Scientific Research & Development (Oberursel, Germany)



**Figure 11 Flocculation strength depends on the size of the** *FLO1* **gene variant.** Different strength of flocculation could be observed in mutants with different length variants of the *FLO1* gene inserted into their genome. A) Non-transformed CEN.PK 113–7D, B) weakly, C) intermediately and D) strongly flocculating cells, photographed after shaking at 125 rpm in 100 ml YPD medium. [Adapted from Paper V.]

Analysis of the inserted genes by PCR showed that the different mutants had *FLO* genes of varying lengths inserted into their genomes. Furthermore, the longer the *FLO1* variant, the stronger the flocculation of the mutant (Figure 11). Sequencing of the amplified and purified genes followed by sequence analysis showed that the difference between the mutants lay mainly in the number of repeat units in the middle of the *FLO1* gene. The strongly flocculating mutant missed 7 repeats of 45 amino acids compared to that of the native *FLO1*, and the intermediately and weakly flocculating mutants lacked 9 and 13 repeats respectively. The *TDH3* promoter sequence was identical in all mutants. This resulted in constitutive expression, independent of the environmental conditions that are important for native flocculation.

In addition to the binding properties of the flocculins, increased cell wall hydrophobicity arising from their expression is believed to increase the flocculation capacity [169,178]. However, increased hydrophobicity of the cell wall is not a major determinant of flocculation strength. Overexpression of *FLO11* has been shown to lead to an equal or

even more hydrophobic cell surface compared to both *FLO1* and *FLO5* overexpression, but does not result in flocculation [169,185]. Significant increases in the hydrophobicity of the cells could also be observed for the strains constructed in this study. A correlation between the length of the *FLO1* gene variant and the hydrophobicity could be observed, with higher cell wall hydrophobicity for longer gene variants (Figure 12). The reasons for stronger flocculation as well as higher hydrophobicity might be that the larger the protein, the farther it can extend from the surface of the cell. If the binding part of the protein extends farther from the surface, more simultaneous bindings between adjacent cells are enabled. It is also likely to give a more hydrophobic cell surface. The theory of extension from the surface is supported by the fact that the central domain of *FLO1* contains a large proportion of serine and threonine [182]. Post-translational modifications in the form of O-glycosylation of these amino acids are believed to lead to a rod-like, semi-rigid structure, extending the active domain further from the cell surface the longer the central domain [165,167,186].



**Figure 12 The hydrophobicity of the cell surface was affected by expression of** *FLO1* **variants.** The larger the size of the inserted *FLO1* gene variant, the higher the measured cell wall hydrophobicity. The hydrophobicity is also dependent on the strain background. This can be seen in that the non-flocculating CBS8066 had a cell surface as hydrophobic as the intermediately flocculating CEN.PK 113–7D. [Data from Papers I & V.]

# HIGH *LOCAL* CELL DENSITY FOR SUCCESSFUL FERMENTATION OF LIGNOCELLULOSE HYDROLYSATES

#### 6.1 A naturally occurring high local cell density strain

Numerous attempts have been made to increase the inhibitor tolerance of *S. cerevisiae* strains towards various compounds present in lignocellulosic hydrolysates, for example, by gene over-expression approaches and evolutionary engineering [89,110,187,188]. However, there are also naturally occurring strains that have been shown to possess superior qualities compared to most so called laboratory strains. One example is *S. cerevisiae* CCUG53310, which has been isolated from an ethanol plant (Domsjö Fabriker AB, Örnsköldsvik, Sweden), and has been demonstrated to have a high tolerance towards lignocellulosic hydrolysate [136,189].

The performance of *S. cerevisiae* CCUG53310 in media containing inhibitors from the different classes of lignocellulose derived inhibitors was investigated and compared to the common laboratory strain *S. cerevisiae* CBS8066 [Paper I]. It was observed that CCUG53310 had clear advantages in media containing the furan aldehydes: HMF and furfural, or the carboxylic acids: formic, acetic and levulinic acid (Figure 13A–D). However, when the strain was subjected to a medium containing phenolic compounds, in the form of vanillin, guaiacol and catechol, the strain was significantly more sensitive than the laboratory strain (Figure 13 E).



Figure 13 S. cerevisiae CCUG53310 and CBS8066 are affected differently by different inhibitors. CCUG53310 could successfully ferment the hexoses in spruce hydrolysate (B), defined medium with carboxylic acids (C) and defined medium with furan aldehydes (D) in 24 hours, without being severely inhibited compared to the fermentation of the non-inhibitory medium (A). CBS8066 was clearly more affected by these inhibitory media, while the performance in non-inhibitory medium was similar between the strains. However, the defined medium with phenolic compounds (E) was more easily fermented by CBS8066 than CCUG53310. [Figure adapted from Paper I.]

These intriguing results led to a further analysis of the physiological state of the cells in the different media. The gene expression levels of three genes known to be important for the inhibitor tolerance towards inhibitors present in lignocellulosic hydrolysates was investigated [190]. The genes investigated were *ATR1*, *FLR1* and *YAP1*. *ATR1* and *FLR1* are transporter proteins, known to confer resistance towards components in lignocellulosic hydrolysates when overexpressed, especially towards HMF and coniferyl alcohol [187]. *YAP1* is a transcription factor involved in the transcription of *ATR1* [191] and *FLR1* [192]. It is also known to be active in the response to various stresses, e.g. carbon starvation [193] as well as oxidative stress [88,194]. Moreover, it has also been described as the main responsible regulator of oxidoreductases involved in conversion of aldehyde inhibitors [95]. Furthermore, *YAP1* has been shown to confer resistance to spruce hydrolysate when overexpressed [187].

The gene expression analysis performed by qPCR showed that the expression of *YAP1* was 50% higher already in the non-inhibitory medium for *S. cerevisiae* CCUG53310 compared to CBS8066. When subjected to an inhibitory medium, however, the level generally increased more for CBS8066 (see Figure 2, Paper I). This indicated that CCUG53310 did not experience the change to an inhibitory medium to be quite as stressful as the reference strain did. CCUG53310 thus required a smaller adaptation, and could tolerate the inhibitory medium much easier, since the cells were better prepared initially. However, increased expression of *YAP1* was not observed for the medium with carboxylic acids. Thus, it is plausible that *YAP1* does not play a major role in the tolerance towards the acids.

The expression of ATR1 correlated rather well with the fermentation performance in the various media, except for the medium with carboxylic acids. For CBS8066, its expression was increased in the furan aldehydes, hydrolysate and phenolics media, whereas for CCUG53310 the expression was only increased in the phenolics medium, which was inhibitory to the strain. Carboxylic acids in the medium led to decreased expression of ATR1 in both strains. The expression of FLR1 was strongly induced by furan aldehydes, observed in both the furan aldehydes and hydrolysate media. This indicated that Flr1p was involved in the transport of these compounds over the membrane in some way. This is possibly true also for some phenolic compounds, as the expression of FLR1 was also increased in the medium with phenolic compounds. As was

the case for *YAP1*, the expression of *FLR1* was higher in non-inhibitory medium for CCUG53310, with smaller increases in the expression level compared to CBS8066 when subjected to inhibitory media.

In addition to the inhibitor tolerance, the strain S. cerevisiae CCUG53310 has another remarkable feature. It is also strongly and constitutively flocculating, forming dense cell flocs of several millimetres in diameter during cultivations in shake flasks. This led to the hypothesis that the flocculation in itself was one of the reasons for the superior qualities observed in this yeast strain. However, the comparison with the non-flocculating CBS8066, which has a different genetic background, did not allow conclusions to be drawn about the role of flocculation for increased inhibitor tolerance. The flocculation of S. cerevisiae CCUG53310 was also investigated at the transcriptional level, looking at the occurrence of flocculation genes. It was found that FLO8 and FLO10 were active in CCUG53310. However, none of the major flocculation genes, FLO1, FLO5 and FLO9 could be detected with certainty [Paper I]. Specific probes have to be used for their detection since the high similarity between these genes makes the use of general SYBR green chemistry difficult [169]. However, the probes used in Paper I did not enable detection of any genes. The probes were designed from the sequences of the S. cerevisiae S288C genes, which most likely differed too much from the genes in CCUG53310. Experiments using SYBR green chemistry detected significant amounts of gene product using the primers for FLO5. However, more than one PCR product was obtained in this case, as observed on the dissociation curve.

In further experiments, a novel flocculation gene was isolated from the genome of CCUG53310 using primers designed for *FLO1* [Westman et al., unpublished data]. Sequencing and phylogenetic analysis showed similarities between the gene and *FLO1*. However, it did not show a Flo1 phenotype when overexpressed in *S. cerevisiae* CEN.PK 113–7D. Instead, the yeast displayed a NewFlo flocculation phenotype, inhibited by several sugars (Figure 14). These results showed that *S. cerevisiae* CCUG53310 must have additional flocculation genes at its disposal, since CCUG53310 itself displayed a Flo1 flocculation phenotype, inhibited by only mannose.



**Figure 14 A novel NewFlo type flocculation gene.** The flocculation gene isolated from *S. cerevisiae* CCUG53310 was expressed constitutively in *S. cerevisiae* CEN.PK 113–7D. The resulting flocculation was inhibited by mannose, maltose, glucose and sucrose, but not galactose. This means that it exhibited a NewFlo phenotype. *S. cerevisiae* CCUG53310 on the other hand, shows a Flo1 phenotype, with inhibition of flocculation only by mannose. [Westman et al., unpublished data.]

#### 6.2 Inhibitor tolerance of encapsulated cells

Encapsulated yeast has been shown to have certain advantages over yeast suspended freely in the medium they ferment. For example, it has been shown that encapsulated yeast could successfully ferment lignocellulosic hydrolysates that were too toxic for suspended cells to ferment, in both batch and continuous systems [8,134]. However, the reasons for the inhibitor tolerance and its specificity were not elucidated. Talebnia and Taherzadeh [141] investigated the macromolecular composition of the encapsulated yeast during sequential batches. They observed an increased accumulation of trehalose and glycogen in the cells, as well as decreased protein and RNA levels. These are indications of decreased growth, which can be expected for encapsulated yeast, where both the space and availability of nutrients may be limited.

To further elucidate the source of the inhibitor tolerance obtained through encapsulation of yeast, batch fermentations with encapsulated yeast in different media were performed and compared with data from suspended yeast at similar initial cell concentration [Papers I & II]. The chosen levels of inhibitors gave similar inhibition levels for the suspended cells in the medium with furan aldehydes and carboxylic acids [Paper I]. While consuming the first 12 g/l glucose, the cells could reach approximately 40% of the glucose consumption rate obtained in the non-inhibitory defined glucose medium (DGM) (Figure 15). It could be observed from the results of the fermentation that encapsulation of the cells increased the tolerance against the furan aldehyde inhibitors (Figure 15). The glucose consumption rate was close to that in the non-inhibitory medium, 80% as fast, compared to 40% as fast for the suspended cells. In the medium with carboxylic acids, on the other hand, the cells were equally inhibited as the suspended cells. These results showed that encapsulation did not induce a general inhibitor tolerance, but was somehow specific with regard to which inhibitors it aided against.

The most likely reason for the specific increase in tolerance towards inhibitors upon encapsulation is differences in diffusion properties of the compounds over the membrane. An example where the capsule membrane was the reason for the increased tolerance towards a compound is the fermentation of orange peel hydrolysates. The strongly inhibitory compound limonene is too hydrophobic to diffuse through the hydrophilic capsule membrane [195]. However, the carboxylic acids: formic, acetic and levulinic acid and the furan aldehydes: furfural and HMF, as well as glucose, all displayed similar diffusivities through the capsule membrane (Figure 16). The slight differences could tentatively be linked to the molecular size of the compounds, with faster diffusion for



→ Defined glucose medium → Furan aldehydes medium → Carboxylic acids medium

**Figure 15 Comparison of suspended and encapsulated yeast.** Glucose consumption profiles of **A)** suspended and **B)** encapsulated *S. cerevisiae* CBS8066 in different media showed that encapsulation increased the tolerance towards the furan aldehydes, but not against the carboxylic acids. [Data from Papers I & II.]

#### smaller molecules.

The small differences in diffusion of the inhibitors through the membrane made it possible to rule that out as the reason for the differences in acquired tolerance upon encapsulation. Instead, the properties of the two different classes of inhibitors were considered. The furan aldehydes can be easily and rapidly converted into less inhibitory compounds *in situ* by *S. cerevisiae*. Anaerobically, this is done to its respective alcohol [99,108]. The acids, on the other hand, are not readily converted anaerobically [196].

If one imagines a cell pellet in the capsule, one can visualise how the cells close to the membrane may convert an inhibitor into less inhibitory compounds. Thus, cells closer to the core of the cell pellet will be left with subinhibitory levels, since a gradient of the inhibitor concentration will appear (Figure 17). A reaction-diffusion system will be formed in this case, where the conversion is tentatively limited by diffusion into the capsules and through the cell pellet. Due to diffusion limitations, cells closer to the core of the cell pellet will face subinhibitory concentrations of the inhibitors and thus be protected. A prerequisite for this is that the inhibitor in question is converted rapidly enough. An inhibitor that is not converted rapidly will give rise to a concentration gradient only initially, due to mass transfer limitations. When a non-convertible inhibitor



★Glucose ->Furfural -Acetic acid ->Formic acid -+Levulinic acid -+HMF

**Figure 16 Diffusion of inhibitors and glucose through the capsules' membranes.** The diffusion of glucose and various inhibitors over the capsule membrane was followed over time and shown to have similar profiles. [Data from Paper II.]

has penetrated the whole cell pellet, it will be present at a constant concentration and thus be equally inhibitory for all cells in the capsule. Obviously, no significant increase in tolerance can be obtained from the encapsulation in this case.

To further investigate the protective effect of encapsulation, the expression of the same three stress-responsive genes investigated in Paper I were analysed in the encapsulated yeast. The expression profiles, when compared to the data from the free *S. cerevisiae* CBS8066 cells from Paper I, showed clearly that encapsulated yeast had higher transcript levels of the genes already in the non-inhibitory medium (Figure 18). *YAP1*, in particular, showed a rather similar level of expression in all different media for the encapsulated



Figure 17 Schematic representation of the hypothesised concentration profiles in the cell pellet of the capsules. Radial concentration gradients through the cell pellet in a medium with convertible inhibitors, such as furan aldehydes, give rise to differences in cell physiology inside the capsules. The numbers along the radius in the cross-section of the capsule indicate different cell 'populations': 1. Non-fermenting cells that convert inhibitors; 2. Cells with triggered stress response, which ferment, grow and convert inhibitors; 3. Slightly starvation-stressed cells that ferment the medium unaffected by the inhibitors. [Figure adapted from Paper II.]

cells. The level was slightly higher in the hydrolysate medium, but significantly higher in the non-inhibitory medium compared to the suspended cells. The higher initial expression of *YAP1* showed that the cells sensed a stress from the encapsulation, which was then beneficial for the cells as they were subjected to a more inhibitory medium. This indicated that the Environmental Stress Response (ESR) was activated in the encapsulated yeast [197,198]. The ESR is common for many stresses, and through stress cross-tolerance, the cells with the ESR activated will cope better with a second stress. Stress cross-tolerance is further discussed in section 6.4. The increased readiness through activation of the ESR can only do so much to help the cells in coping with increased stress. A constant carboxylic acids stress, which cannot be relieved through conversion of the acids to less inhibitory compounds, was obviously too harsh for the cells to cope with.

The largest difference between the suspended and encapsulated yeast was found in the expression of FLR1 in the furan aldehydes medium. The transcript level of FLR1 was only slightly increased in encapsulated yeast, whereas the level was vastly increased for the suspended yeast. This difference can be explained by the fact that cells that do not experience higher levels of furan aldehydes will not increase the transcription of the FLR1 gene. Due to the concentration gradients of furan aldehydes through the cell pellet, there will be cells that express FLR1 at different levels. Only the cells closest to the membrane will experience a similar concentration of furfural as the freely suspended cells do. The average cell in the community of encapsulated cells will thus not show as large changes in the transcription as the suspended cells, where all cells face the same levels of the inhibitor.

Most likely, the gradients of furan aldehyde concentrations through the cell pellet were less steep in the hydrolysate medium compared to the furan aldehydes medium, due to additional inhibitory compounds affecting the cells. Less steep gradients would lead to higher expression of *FLR1* in a larger proportion of the cells inside the capsules. Indeed, the difference in *FLR1* expression between the encapsulated and the freely suspended cells was less pronounced in the hydrolysate medium (Figure 18 E, F).



**Figure 18 Gene expression analysis showed encapsulation induced stress.** Gene expression in different media after two hours of anaerobic batch cultivations for free yeast (white) and encapsulated yeast (black). Expression of *YAP1* (**A**), *ATR1* (**C**) and *FLR1* (**E**) relative to the level of the reference gene *TAF10* show that the transcript levels were higher in encapsulated yeast in non inhibitory medium (DGM). The expression changes of *YAP1* (**B**), *ATR1* (**D**) and *FLR1* (**F**) in inhibitory media relative to the expression level in DGM show that the changes were generally larger for the suspended yeast. [Figure adapted from Paper II.]

The source of the slight stress level that the cells sensed from being encapsulated was at this point unknown. However, it was hypothesised to come from starvation of cells closer to the core of the cell pellet inside the capsules. Starvation would be caused by nutrient limitations arising from mass transfer limitations, as well as consumption of nutrients by cells closer to the membrane of the capsule. However, in order to verify this theory, a more in depth analysis of the physiology of the encapsulated cells had to be performed.

#### 6.3 Proteomic analysis reveals starvation-induced stress

As described in section 3.5, genome wide investigations can be performed on transcript, mRNA, or protein level. When it came to performing a genome wide physiological investigation of encapsulated yeast, proteomics was chosen [Paper III]. However, no analysis of post-translational modifications (PTMs) was performed. A comparison of two different proteomic methods was performed: a chromatography and mass spectrometric method (nLC-MS/MS) and a gel based two dimensional difference gel electrophoresis method (2D-DIGE).

In the chromatographic method, the proteins in a sample are first digested into peptides by an enzyme. The peptides are thereafter labelled with molecules of a specific molecular weight, that is, mass tags. Different samples are labelled with molecules of slightly different weight. Thereafter, the samples are pooled and the peptides fractionated using chromatographic methods. Using mass spectrometry and data base searches, the proteins that the peptides are derived from are subsequently identified. By comparing the signals from the different mass tags, the relative abundance of the proteins in different samples can be determined.

In the gel based method, proteins in different samples are first labelled with different fluorescent dyes. The samples are thereafter mixed and the proteins are separated on a gel in two dimensions. In the first dimension, the proteins are separated according to their charge, and in the second dimension according to their molecular weight. By scanning with the excitation wavelength of each fluorescent dye, the signal from each protein spot can thereafter be detected and compared. The differences in strength between the different fluorescent signals correspond to differences in abundance of the proteins in the samples. However, in order to identify the proteins on the gel, the spots have to be individually picked and analysed by mass spectrometry and database searches.

The two methods used in Paper III showed similar results, with the number of identified proteins constituting the major difference. The method utilising chromatographic separation, with online mass spectrometric measurements, resulted in the quantification of a significantly larger number of proteins than the gel based method. The chromatographic method is also significantly more sensitive than the gel based method. The gel based method mainly detects highly expressed glycolytic proteins, while the

chromatographic method also detects proteins with low expression. An advantage with the 2D-gels is that they facilitate an easier analysis of PTMs. Proteins with changes in pI due to PTMs will be located next to each other on a gel, since the changes in molecular weight are small, while the changes in pI can be significant [125]. However, this analysis lay outside the scope of Paper III and this thesis, and the comparison of the two methods will not be further discussed in the thesis.

Cultivations for the proteome analysis were performed anaerobically in defined medium without inhibitors. Fifty capsules were used as inoculum in cultivations with 100 ml medium, with 40 g/l glucose as carbon source. Freely suspended yeast was precultivated in a similar way as the encapsulated, and the anaerobic batches were started with the same amount of initial biomass.

From the glucose consumption profiles, it was clear that the encapsulated cells were significantly slower at consuming the sugar present in the medium. Therefore, it was judged that a specific glucose level would be more appropriate for sampling of the cells for proteome analysis, rather than a specific time point. At a specific time point, the cells would be in different states due to different glucose availabilities in the medium. The proteome analysis was therefore performed on cells taken at very different time points. The glucose levels were, however, similar at  $12.6 \pm 0.7$  and  $15.8 \pm 0.1$  g/l for the encapsulated and freely suspended cells, respectively. Thus, a compromise between the residual glucose level and the total cell amount in the cultivations was made. The measured biomass yield was significantly lower for the encapsulated compared to the free cells at  $41 \pm 3$  and  $74 \pm 2$  mg DW produced per gram glucose consumed, respectively.

Out of the 842 identified proteins, the proteome analysis using nLC-MS/MS yielded 116 significantly up-regulated and 95 significantly down-regulated proteins in encapsulated compared to freely suspended yeast. It was not unexpected that such a large number of the identified proteins (25%) would show an altered expression, considering the significantly different environments experienced by the cells, although the medium and other experimental variables were the same in both cases.

The most prominent change detected in the encapsulated yeast was the increased expression of glucose repressed proteins. The strongest up-regulated proteins in the encapsulated yeast were the high affinity hexose transporters Hxt6p and Hxt7p (Figure 19). It is well known that these transporters are normally highly expressed only at extracellular concentrations of glucose of less than 5 g/l, i.e. at glucose concentrations below those where the cells were sampled [199-201]. Certain enzymes, such as e.g. Hxk1p and Glk1p, which are known to be glucose repressed, were also up-regulated [202]. Taken together, this verified the hypothesis from Paper II that cells inside the capsule experienced a lack of glucose and hence starvation. The trehalose and glycogen pathway was significantly up-regulated, as expected from the findings of Talebnia and Taherzadeh [141], that the intracellular trehalose and glycogen levels increased upon sequential batches with encapsulated yeast (Figure 19). These two carbohydrates are important storage carbohydrates in yeast, accumulated mainly in starved or slow-growing cells [85]. However, trehalose is also important as a protector of proteins and membranes against stresses such as starvation, cold and heat [203].

Down-regulated proteins were often involved in protein synthesis and in transcription (see Figure 4, Paper III). This was not unexpected, as the biomass yield was decreased for encapsulated yeast compared to freely suspended, as observed also in Paper II. It has also been observed that the proportions of both RNA and protein decrease in encapsulated cells upon prolonged cultivation [141]. In contrast to these findings, levels of ribosomal proteins have been observed to be up-regulated in cells immobilised in alginate gel beads [204]. This shows that there are physiological differences between cells encapsulated in liquid core capsules and cells immobilised in porous gels.

The expression of stress response proteins was of special interest to study because of the seemingly starvation stressed cells. Genes under the control of the transcription factors Msn2p and Msn4p were enriched among those encoding the up-regulated proteins in the encapsulated yeast compared to the suspended yeast. These transcription factors are important parts of the ESR [197,205,206]. The occurrence of up-regulated proteins under control of Msn2/4 further strengthens the hypothesis from Paper II, which stated that the cells sensed a low stress level. Specifically, proteins involved in the heat shock response were up-regulated. Together with the elevated trehalose levels this explained the increased tolerance towards elevated temperatures observed by yeast encapsulated in alginate-chitosan capsules [46]. It has also been reported that the heat shock response and progression into stationary phase are similar on the gene transcription level [197].

Furthermore, it has been suggested that slow growth might be perceived as 'stress' by the cells, similar to starvation, and lead to heat-shock resistance [207]. This is further discussed in section 6.4.



**Figure 19 Proteomic changes upon encapsulation of** *S. cerevisiae* revealed glucose starved cells. The high affinity hexose transporters Hxt6/7p were strongly up-regulated in encapsulated yeast. This indicated that the cells sensed significantly lower glucose levels than the more than 10 g/l present in the medium outside the capsules. The proteins involved in trehalose and glycogen synthesis were also strongly up-regulated, as a response to the carbon starvation. The fold change (encapsulated cells compared to suspended cells) is shown in parentheses next to the proteins, with significant up-regulation shown in green. The first numbers in the parentheses are the ratios obtained by n-LS-MS/MS and the second numbers are from 2D-DIGE, where applicable. [Figure adapted from Paper III.]

Several of the proteomic responses observed in the encapsulated yeast were similar to what has been observed in previous studies on yeast cells treated with furfural [103,104]. Based on the fact that these changes are evident in the encapsulated cells already before they are subjected to furfural, it is plausible that the cells are better prepared to handle the addition of furfural to the medium. The increased expression of alcohol dehydrogenases was of special importance for the observed increase in tolerance towards furfural by the encapsulated yeast (Figure 19). These enzymes are, as mentioned in Chapter 3, responsible for reduction of the furan aldehydes to less inhibitory alcohols under anaerobic conditions [99]. Up-regulation of chaperones was also observed in both furfural treated cells and encapsulated cells [103].

#### 6.4 Stress cross-tolerance and stress resistance by slow growth

The existence of stress cross-tolerance in S. cerevisiae has been shown in numerous publications, e.g. [90,208-211]. Cross-tolerance means that after being subjected to one stress, the tolerance towards a second stress is increased. This often includes the expression of heat shock proteins, hsps, as well as intracellular accumulation of trehalose. The actual stress responses are specific for each stress, but the overlap between the responses are substantial, as observed with new technologies. With microarray technology, genome wide expression analysis of responses to various conditions led to a deeper understanding of the stress responses of S. cerevisiae [197,198,212]. It was found that more than half of the genome was involved in responses to various environmental changes and, more importantly, a subset of  $\sim 10\%$  of the yeast genes was common to all responses, showing both up- and down-regulation. The studies emphasised the importance of the transcription factors Msn2p/Msn4p, which were also observed to be activated in the work in Paper III. These two homologous transcription factors were initially thought to be functionally redundant [206]. However, it has now been shown that they have specific roles in the response to different stresses. Often, both are required for full induction of gene transcription [205].

It has been shown that stress cross-tolerance is, at least some times, based on asymmetrical anticipatory regulation [213]. Thus, a certain stress might lead to protection against a second stress, but not vice versa. An example of asymmetrical anticipatory regulation is heat shock and ethanol stress, which both lead to protection against

oxidative stress. The stresses are unrelated with regard to their effect on the cells, but follow each other naturally during wine making. Hence, the one way cross-protection is likely an evolutionary evolved trait.

It has been observed that a large number of the genes classified as involved in stress responses are actually affected in similar directions by a decrease in growth rate, which is a natural effect of most stresses [124,214]. This implies that at least a part of the expression changes in the ESR might not be direct responses to the stresses, but rather effects arising from the change in growth rate [124,214]. It has indeed been shown that slow growth in itself leads to heat-shock resistance in S. cerevisiae [207], a link that was first observed in 1993 [215]. However, approximately as many genes displayed expression changes correlated to only heat, as those whose expression was correlated to both growth rate and temperature changes. The ESR growth rate relationship is thus not true for all expression changes [207]. Further investigations of slow growth have recently shown that it is a mediator of resistance also to various other stresses [216]. Chemostat cultures at low dilution rates were observed to be significantly more resistant to oxidative stress, heat stress, as well as acetic acid stress at pH 3, compared to cultures at higher dilution rates. However, in this case the survival rate was determined after the cells had been subjected to the stress for 10 minutes. This may not be relevant to the performance in fermentations with extended periods of stress, such as the batch cultures in this thesis.

With decreased growth rates due to gradients of nutrients in the capsules, it is understandable that the encapsulated yeast will have an increased stress resistance. Encapsulated cells subjected to a medium with convertible inhibitors will show an improved fermentation performance compared to free cells, partly thanks to the increased stress resistance. The initial stress resistance helps the cells to survive while they convert the inhibitors. However, when continuously subjected to non-convertible inhibitors, they may not exhibit an overall improved fermentation performance. In this case, the stress is not relieved by conversion of the inhibitors into less inhibitory compounds. An analogy can be the use of sunscreen on a sunny day. If you apply sunscreen in the morning, it helps to protect your skin while pigment is produced, which decreases the stress from the sun. This is analogous to conversion of inhibitors, although with the inhibitors, the stress is decreased instead of the protection increased. However, if you are unable to produce pigment, the sunscreen cannot help you very long if you do not continuously apply more. In the specific case of the acids, anion accumulation inside the cells or ATP depletion could be reasons why the increased stress resistance cannot help against a long-term continuous stress. The cells are not able to adapt themselves enough against the high concentrations of the acids, regardless of the initial state of readiness of the cells. Against other stresses that cannot be 'detoxified' by the cells, the stress response from encapsulation might help even in the long-term. This would happen if the cells can be protected by the increased stress tolerance while additional, more specific, stress responses are developed. Further experiments are needed to elucidate whether this is the case. For temporary perturbations, e.g. in an industrial process, encapsulation of cells would likely increase the robustness of the system almost regardless of the source. Such perturbations could be e.g. an accidental temperature increase, or a pulse of a nonconvertible toxic compound into a continuous process. The compound would be washed out before long, while the cells are retained. In all, it is likely that changes occurring in the cells due to encapsulation, or rather from growth inside the capsules, lead to a more robust system. At least some cells, dependent on concentration gradients along the radius of the cell pellet, will be better prepared to handle additional stresses.

#### 6.5 Improved xylose and glucose co-consumption by encapsulated cells

The results and hypothesis from Papers II & III, gave rise to an additional hypothesis. It was hypothesised that the gradients through the cell pellet would increase not only the tolerance towards convertible inhibitors, but also the ability of the yeast population to simultaneously utilise different sugars.

As mentioned in Chapter 3, *S. cerevisiae* has a natural preference for glucose as a carbon source, with a strong repression of the utilisation of most other energy sources, as long as there is glucose present [60,217]. This is an issue when it comes to fermentation of lignocellulosic hydrolysates, which contain various different sugars (e.g. the hexoses glucose, mannose and galactose, and the pentoses xylose and arabinose). The total fermentation time becomes quite long if the sugars are utilised sequentially. Recombinant *S. cerevisiae* with the ability to utilise xylose, first consume the glucose. Not until most of the glucose is consumed will they start to utilise the xylose present [75,76,78,79,84,218,219]. This sequential utilisation is mainly an effect of both sugars being transported into the yeast cells by the same transporters, the hexose transporter

system. These transporters have a significantly higher affinity for glucose than xylose, which is why glucose transport is preferred as long as glucose is present near the cells [200,220-222]. However, what could plausibly be the case for encapsulated yeast is that there will be cells that experience a high, an intermediate, a low and zero concentrations of glucose, present in a cultivation at the same time. This gradient of glucose would be present despite a high 'extracapsular' concentration of glucose in the medium. As observed in Paper III, the expression of the high affinity hexose transporters, Hxt6p and Hxt7p, was increased in cells inside the capsules, despite high levels of 'extracapsular' glucose. Normally, these transporters are only expressed at low levels of glucose [199,201]. The cells that expressed Hxt6p and Hxt7p at high levels were most likely cells closer to the core of the capsules. Cells closer to the surface of the capsules plausibly expressed more of the low affinity transporters instead. The transporter Hxt7p (and Hxt6p by homology) has been shown to be a significantly better xylose transporter than e.g. Hxt1 [221], which is expressed at higher levels of glucose [199]. A low concentration of glucose has also been observed to be beneficial for maximal xylose utilisation [75,200]. It has been speculated that glucose metabolism leads to production of intermediary metabolites for the initial steps of xylose metabolism and the pentose phosphate pathway [78]. In traditional batch fermentations, the period with a low level of glucose will be very short. For encapsulated yeast, however, there will most likely be cells already in the beginning of a batch that experience a high xylose concentration and a low glucose concentration simultaneously. With this background information, it was hypothesised that encapsulation of a xylose utilising yeast strain would increase the simultaneous co-utilisation of glucose and xylose. Cells close to the surface of the capsule will consume more glucose, so that cells closer to the core can utilise more xylose. This was simulated by finite element modelling [223]. The results showed that encapsulation would indeed improve the simultaneous utilisation of glucose and xylose, especially in the case of a medium that contained convertible inhibitors. This would mainly be an effect of the concentration gradients of the sugars, which led to different uptake rates by cells in different parts of the capsules (see Figure 2, Paper IV).

To experimentally investigate the notion of increased simultaneous hexose and pentose co-consumption, the recombinant xylose fermenting *S. cerevisiae* CEN.PK XXX, developed at Chalmers University of Technology by Dr Nicklas Bonander, was encapsulated [Paper IV]. Following the results of the *in silico* simulations, the yeast was

examined for its xylose and glucose co-utilisation in the presence and absence of the inhibitor furfural. Media with single carbon sources and furfural were also used in anaerobic batch experiments for comparison. For the encapsulated yeast, in some fermentations there were cells that grew outside of the capsules. This happened since cells escaped from occasional broken capsules during the precultivations. These cells clung to the capsules used in the anaerobic batch fermentations despite thorough rinsing. However, the occurrence of free cells was not believed to have influenced the conclusions drawn from the study. Rather, the difference between the systems is believed to have decreased.

The freely suspended recombinant S. cerevisiae CEN.PK XXX was able to utilise xylose anaerobically as the sole carbon source. However, the rate was significantly slower compared to when only glucose was fermented. When a mixture of glucose and xylose was fermented, the glucose was consumed rapidly, with only a small fraction of the xylose consumed during the glucose consumption phase. After glucose depletion, a small part of the xylose that remained was consumed. This phase was followed by an almost ceased consumption at a residual xylose concentration of approximately 30 g/l, around 24 hours after consumption of the last glucose. From this point on, only a very slow consumption was observed until the fermentations were stopped at 96 h. During the glucose consumption phase, there was almost no accumulation of xylitol, but a high production of glycerol. The cells could thus balance the need for reoxidation of NADH by glycerol production (Figure 20). Upon depletion of the glucose, the balances shifted. Xylitol started to accumulate and the cells could likely not adapt their metabolism fast enough to the changed conditions (Figure 20). Since neither NAD(P)H, NAD(P)<sup>+</sup>, ATP, ADP, nor PPP metabolites were quantified, the reasons for the slow xylose consumption after glucose depletion can only be hypothesised. However, decreased xylose consumption under anaerobic conditions after exhaustion of the glucose has been reported previously [78,81]. The reason for the slowed or stopped consumption has been hypothesised to be caused by redox imbalance, or the fact that glucose consumption provides important intermediary metabolites for xylose consumption. For example, there might be a shortage of NADPH, which is generated through the oxidative PPP, or  $NAD^+$ , generated from glycerol production. It is also possible that ATP was depleted by e.g. too high xylulokinase activity [224]. However, it was evident that the cells could not adapt their metabolism fast enough to maintain stable conditions while fermenting the remaining xylose in the batch fermentation. In the medium with only xylose as the carbon source, the consumption of xylose continued throughout the batch. The reason for this could be that the cells in this case had a slower metabolism already from the start of the batch. The cells' metabolism was thus better adapted for xylose utilisation. Thanks to the adapted metabolism, the cells were able to balance the production of glycerol from xylose, with maintained cell growth and ethanol production. However, there was significant accumulation of xylitol, showing that there was also a redox problem in this case.

Encapsulation of the xylose fermenting yeast completely changed its performance. First, as described previously in this thesis for another yeast strain, the tolerance towards the high level of furfural was increased. Encapsulated, the yeast was able to ferment the medium with 2 g/l furfural at only a slightly lower rate than without furfural. This medium was too inhibitory for the freely suspended yeast at the same initial cell concentration in the batch. Secondly, it was clear that the encapsulated yeast was able to ferment a significant portion of the xylose simultaneously with the glucose (Figure 20). As the glucose was depleted from the medium, the xylose consumption rate decreased, similar to what was observed for the freely suspended cells. However, the rate never decreased as much as for the suspended cells. Most probably, and supported by the in silico simulations, the reason for the better xylose utilisation was that many cells, closer to the core of the cell pellet, fermented xylose almost exclusively from early on in the batch cultivations. These cells, hence, had a balanced metabolism and did not experience a severe change in metabolism upon glucose depletion. The decreased xylose consumption rate would thus occur mainly for the cells closer to the membrane of the capsules. These cells would have fermented mostly glucose during the glucose phase. Similar to the freely suspended cells, there was a significant production of glycerol and accumulation of xylitol. However, xylitol was accumulated from the beginning of the batches in the case of the encapsulated yeast.



**Figure 20** Improved simultaneous fermentation of glucose and xylose by yeast encapsulation. The results from the fermentations with 40 g/l glucose, 40 g/l xylose and 0 g/l (A and B) or 1 g/l (C and D) furfural in the medium showed that the freely suspended yeast (A and C) consumed the glucose present rapidly once enough of the furfural in the medium was converted. Xylose was consumed once the glucose concentration was at a low level. The encapsulated yeast (B and D) consumed glucose and xylose as well as converted furfural simultaneously, already from the start of the batch. Furthermore, significantly more xylose was consumed by the encapsulated yeast over the 96 hours that the batch lasted. Hence, higher ethanol titres were reached for the encapsulated yeast. Significant amounts of glycerol were produced to reoxidise NADH in all cases. However, xylitol accumulation occurred from the beginning of xylose consumption for the encapsulated yeast, but only once the glucose was depleted for the freely suspended yeast. [Data from Paper IV.]

Improvements in the simultaneous glucose and xylose consumption through encapsulation of the fermenting yeast were also evident from the ethanol yields per consumed glucose (Figure 21 A & B). Yields calculated from the consumption and production, between the sample points, showed that the encapsulated yeast in cultures with two sugars had a higher yield than in the reference case medium with only glucose throughout the batch. For the suspended yeast, on the other hand, substantial coconsumption was not observed until the concentration of glucose in the medium was low. The ethanol yield for the suspended yeast was also than that theoretically possible on only glucose, 0.51 g/g, between many sample points. This showed clearly that co-fermentation of the sugars into ethanol occurred. The amount of xylose consumed per glucose consumed, also showed that the encapsulated yeast consumed more xylose simultaneously with glucose than the freely suspended yeast (Figure 21 C & D).



**Figure 21 Improved co-consumption by encapsulation.** The ethanol yields calculated per consumed glucose over time intervals (A, B) indicated a small degree of co-utilisation, which was more pronounced at low glucose concentrations for the suspended yeast (A). However, the encapsulated yeast (B) showed a higher ethanol yield already from the start of the fermentations for the mixed carbohydrate cultures compared to the culture with only glucose. It was also evident that the encapsulated yeast was able to reach yields that were higher than what is theoretically possible on glucose alone (as indicated by the black line at 0.51 g/g) over consecutive time ranges. This was not observed for the freely suspended yeast. Xylose consumed per glucose consumed over different time intervals (C, D) also showed that the simultaneous utilisation of glucose and xylose was improved significantly for the encapsulated yeast (D) compared to the freely suspended yeast (C). Medium with 40 g/l glucose and 1 g/l furfural (light grey bars); medium with 40 g/l glucose, 40 g/l xylose and 1 g/l furfural (white bars); and medium with 40 g/l glucose, 40 g/l xylose and 2 g/l furfural (black bars). [Data from Paper IV.]
As proof of the concept, a complete spruce hydrolysate was also fermented by the freely suspended and encapsulated *S. cerevisiae* CEN.PK XXX. The suspended yeast showed a long lag phase prior to sugar consumption, during which the furfural in the medium was converted (see Figure 5 B & C, Paper IV). Following furfural conversion, the cells rapidly consumed the glucose and mannose, followed by the xylose and galactose. The consumption of the latter two started at low concentrations of glucose. Also, the xylose consumption almost stopped shortly after full consumption of all hexoses, similar to what was observed in the defined media. The encapsulated CEN.PK XXX exhibited simultaneous utilisation of all sugars, except arabinose, as well as conversion of the furfural (Figure 22). Simultaneous utilisation of galactose and glucose is generally not possible in a system with suspended cells, since the expression of *GAL* genes is repressed by glucose [65]. However, with gradients of glucose in the cell pellet inside the capsules, cells that experience none or a low concentration of glucose can express the *GAL* genes. In this way, galactose and glucose can be consumed simultaneously by the system.



**Figure 22** Simultaneous consumption of sugars in spruce hydrolysate by encapsulated xylose utilising yeast. The encapsulated *S. cerevisiae* CEN.PK XXX exhibited simultaneous co-consumption of all sugars in the spruce hydrolysate except arabinose, which it could not utilise. Concurrently the furfural was converted and ethanol produced. Although the xylose consumption was not complete, it was clear that xylose was utilised simultaneously with glucose already from the start of the fermentation. [Data from Paper IV.]

#### 6.6 Improved inhibitor tolerance by flocculating yeast

Encapsulated yeast is at times difficult to work with in the laboratory. Due to capsules breaking from rapid  $CO_2$  evolution as mentioned in Chapter 3, some cells can be released into the medium. This results in a mixture of suspended and encapsulated yeast. In an industrial setting, this would not necessarily have to be a major concern. Especially in a continuous process at a high dilution rate, the proportion of suspended cells would be rather small. However, it has been a major headache during this PhD project, as a lot of cultivations have had to be discarded. Furthermore, industrially, encapsulation of yeast would likely be very costly, at least in relation to the low price of fuel ethanol. It is, therefore, questionable if encapsulated yeast for  $2^{nd}$  generation bioethanol production could ever be made economically feasible. An alternative and simpler way to achieve high local cell density is flocculation.

Under certain conditions, yeast aggregates created during the cultivation of a flocculent yeast strain can become highly similar to the encapsulated yeast. Certain similarities were also observed on the gene expression level between encapsulated and strongly flocculating yeast (Figure 23). From Papers II & III, it was evident that the inhibitor tolerance of encapsulated yeast was an effect of high local cell density and not a direct effect of the membrane. This made a hypothesis that arose during the work on Paper I more plausible and interesting to investigate: Does flocculation in itself increase the inhibitor tolerance of *S. cerevisiae* during fermentations? In order to investigate this in a systematic manner, a strain of non-flocculating yeast had to be made flocculating, or vice versa. In this way the inhibitor tolerance of *FLO1* were expressed in *S. cerevisiae* CEN.PK 113–7D as described in Chapter 5.



**Figure 23 Gene expression changes in hydrolysate indicate a relationship between encapsulation and flocculation.** Encapsulated CBS8066 (white bars), and the strongly flocculating CCUG53310 (black bars), showed similarities in the gene expression changes of *FLR1* and *YAP1*, involved in the resistance towards lignocellulosic inhibitors, when cultivated in a spruce hydrolysate compared to a non inhibitory medium. The freely suspended CBS8066 (grey bars), generally exhibited larger changes in the levels of the transcripts. [Data from Papers I & II.]

#### 6.6.1 Batch fermentations reveal flocculation-induced inhibitor tolerance

The developed flocculating strains, as well as the non-transformed CEN.PK 113-7D, were investigated at similar initial cell concentrations in anaerobic batch fermentations in various media. The results of the anaerobic cultivations showed that the different strains reacted in different ways to different media (Figure 24). In non-inhibitory medium with 20 g/l glucose, the non-flocculating, non-transformed, strain performed best. For the other strains, stronger flocculation led to slower glucose consumption (Figure 24 A). The slower consumption rate was likely an effect of mass transfer limitations of nutrients to the cells in the flocs, as well as the increased burden of constitutive recombinant protein production by the cells. This would result in slower growth and thus slower glucose consumption in the batch. However, in a preliminary test where the non-flocculating and the strongly flocculating strains fermented a spruce hydrolysate, the difference between the strains was reversed and the flocculating strain consumed the glucose and mannose faster than the non-flocculating (see Figure 4, Paper V). The toxicity of the spruce hydrolysate, however, was not severe even for the non-flocculating strain under the experimental conditions. Therefore, for further experiments, 1.5 g/l furfural was added to the hydrolysate to increase its inhibitory effect. The results of the fermentations of the

furfural supplemented hydrolysate showed an even clearer increased inhibitor tolerance of the strongly, and to some extent also the intermediately, flocculating strains when compared to the non-flocculating wild type (Figure 24 B). The weakly flocculating strain, on the other hand, exhibited a fermentation profile highly similar to the non-flocculating strain. These results showed that flocculation *per se* does not result in increased tolerance, but only when it is strong enough to form dense cell flocs.



**Figure 24 The degree of flocculation strongly influenced the ability of the strains to ferment the different media investigated.** The different strains showed distinctly different ethanol production profiles in the different media tested. **A)** defined medium without added inhibitors, **B)** spruce hydrolysate with 1.5 g/l extra furfural, **C)** defined medium with 5 g/l furfural and **D)** defined medium with 200 mM each of formic, acetic and levulinic acid. With strong flocculation (dense cell flocs), the tolerance towards the readily convertible inhibitor furfural, as well as the spruce hydrolysate, was increased. For the not readily convertible acids, as well as the non-inhibitory medium, mass transfer limitations through the flocs decreased the fermentation rates. This led to longer fermentation times the stronger the flocculation. [Data from Paper V.]

#### 6.6.2 Increased tolerance is specific to convertible inhibitors

To investigate the specificity of the increased inhibitor tolerance, the strains were subjected to fermentations of medium containing either 5 g/l furfural or 200 mM each of formic, acetic and levulinic acid in a medium otherwise identical to the non-inhibitory medium. As described in Paper II, these inhibitors can be classified into readily convertible *in situ* under anaerobic conditions, and not readily convertible, respectively. The results of the fermentations were very clear in that the strongly flocculating strain could easily ferment the medium that contained furfural, which inhibited the non-flocculating and weakly flocculating strains strongly (Figure 24 C).

Investigations of the furfural tolerance of high cell density yeast cultures in a membrane bioreactor (MBR) have been reported. There, it was found that cells at a cell density exceeding 150 g DW/l could tolerate 17 g/l furfural in the feed, after stepwise increases from lower concentrations [106]. However, when the concentration of furfural was further increased, the conversion capacity of the cells was evidently not enough and the furfural concentration in the outlet of the reactor started to increase while the ethanol concentration decreased. It was concluded that the cells could detoxify the furfural as long as the concentration was below a certain level in the inlet. This level must be strongly correlated to the amount of cells in the reactor and the state that they are in. It was also found that cells in an MBR could tolerate pulses of furfural of 21.8 g/l. The furfural per biomass ratio was in this case approximately 0.17 g furfural per g DW of cells. In all, it is obvious that the total detoxification capacity of the system is of great importance for its performance. It is not likely that the high cell density in itself had an impact on each cells' ability to tolerate furfural.

In the experiments with the yeast strains in Paper V, the furfural to cell ratio was approximately 6 g furfural per g DW of cells, which was detoxified by all strains. For the non-flocculating and weakly flocculating strains, it was clear that the cells were severely affected after complete detoxification. This effect is similar to what appeared to be the case for the cells in the membrane bioreactor at high concentrations of furfural. However, cells at a high *local* cell density had a clear benefit when compared to freely suspended cells at the same cell concentration. The strongly flocculating cells can 'sacrifice' the outer lying cells, letting them convert furfural at full capacity. The furfural that they

cannot convert will be left for the next 'layer' of cells, which will then experience a lower concentration. In this way a high fermentation capacity can be maintained for a longer time. The fermenting cells inside the flocs can likely also still grow. Accordingly, new cells that can convert furfural are created. This is not the case for freely suspended cells, where the presence of an equally high furfural concentration for all cells inhibits cell growth.

All strains were negatively affected by the medium with carboxylic acids. Instead, the medium with acids was fermented faster by the non-flocculating strain. Most likely, this was an effect of the glucose diffusion limitations hypothesised for the flocculating strains in the non-inhibitory medium, only pronounced by the longer fermentation time in the medium with acids.

In all, the results showed clearly that strong flocculation increased the tolerance significantly only towards convertible inhibitors. This is similar to what was observed for the encapsulated yeast in Paper II and likely for the same reasons. The existence of diffusion limitations inside yeast flocs has been shown previously. The size of the yeast flocs was shown to affect the rates of growth and ethanol formation for flocs of *S. cerevisiae* SPSC01 larger than 100  $\mu$ m [225]. This is significantly smaller than the flocs of the strongly flocculating mutant in the current study. These were usually approximately 3–4 mm in diameter. Furthermore, the effective diffusivity of glucose in yeast flocs of *S. cerevisiae* NRRL Y265 has been measured to be between 7–17% of the diffusivity in pure water [226].

The difference in hydrolysate fermentation between the non-flocculating and strongly flocculating strains lay mainly in the consumption of mannose, rather than that of glucose (see Figure 4 C & D, Paper V). This can be compared with the encapsulated yeast, where simultaneous consumption of different sugars was observed [Paper IV]. *S. cerevisiae* has a higher affinity for glucose uptake than for mannose uptake [62]. Hence, concentration gradients in the yeast flocs could explain the observed difference. Interestingly, the furfural conversion in the defined medium with furfural did not differ between the strains, despite the significant difference in glucose consumption even after full conversion (see Figure 5, Paper V). However, it was evident that the glucose consumption rate also decreased for the strongly flocculating cells over time with furfural in the medium. The decreased consumption rate can be explained by the fact that glucose

consumption became more limited by diffusion into the flocs over time. After complete conversion of the furfural, the cells in the outer part were strongly negatively affected, similar to *all* of the non-flocculating cells. As long as there is a high concentration of furfural in the medium, cells further and further into the flocs will be severely affected, until there is a balance between the conversion and diffusion of the furfural. Thus, the affected cells might not consume glucose, and the glucose must diffuse further into the flocs to be fermented. In the more complex spruce hydrolysate, on the other hand, there was also a large difference in the furan aldehydes consumption (see Figure 5, Paper V). This is probably due to the additional adversary effects on the outer lying cells of the flocs, by other inhibitory compounds in the hydrolysate. Cells further inside the flocs then have to convert the furan aldehydes. For the non-flocculating strain, all cells face the same concentration of all inhibitors. The system as a whole was thus more affected, and converted the furan aldehydes, as well as consumed the sugars, more slowly.

Like the encapsulated cells, it is very likely that the flocculating cells also have an improved general stress resistance. In a comparison between a non-flocculating strain and the same strain expressing *FLO1*, it was found that multidrug transporter genes as well as other genes involved in stress resistance were up-regulated [227]. The similarities to the results obtained in Papers II & III for encapsulated yeast are striking. Thus, it can be said that flocculation is nature's way of encapsulating yeast.

When the results obtained for the constructed flocculating strains were compared with the performance of the naturally flocculating *S. cerevisiae* CCUG53310, it was obvious that the high tolerance towards carboxylic acids of CCUG53310 cannot have been an effect of its strong flocculation. However, the tolerance towards furan aldehydes may very well, at least in part, be an effect of the flocculation. The sensitivity of flocculating strains to phenolic compounds remains to be investigated. It is likely to be related to the rate of conversion to less inhibitory compounds. However, the tolerance might also be affected by the hydrophobicity of the compounds. If the compounds are attracted to the cells due to the cells' increased hydrophobicity, it is possible that the strongly flocculating strain might experience higher local concentrations and thus stronger inhibition.

#### 6.7 Possibilities and strategies for industrial applications

There are obvious advantages with utilising yeast flocculation rather than encapsulation in industrial settings. Encapsulation of yeast in 2<sup>nd</sup> generation bioethanol production would likely increase the cost of the final product too much to make the process economically feasible. Flocculation, on the other hand, does not require expensive processing of the yeast prior to the fermentation step, and still it enables easy recovery and reuse of the biocatalyst. However, constitutive flocculation is most of the time unfavourable for the yeast, since mass transfer limitations decrease the specific fermentation rate of the yeast. One can imagine how expression of FLO1 under the control of a non-constitutive promoter could lead to expression, for example, only in the event of furan aldehydes in the medium. This could possibly be done using the promoter of FLR1. FLR1 was found to be highly expressed in the furan aldehydes medium [Papers I & II]. A similar approach has been taken to obtain flocculation at high ethanol concentration [228]. A combination of these two systems could result in a yeast strain, which flocculated under inhibitory conditions, as well as in the end of the batch, but not under non-inhibitory conditions. An alternative to the expression at high ethanol concentrations could be constitutive expression of a NewFlo phenotype FLO gene. This would result in flocculation only at low sugar concentrations. With both options, one could make use of two of the benefits of flocculation - increased inhibitor tolerance and easier cell recovery.

## **CHAPTER 7**

### **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

The main goal of the thesis was to investigate the physiology of *S. cerevisiae* at high local cell density for  $2^{nd}$  generation bioethanol production. In particular, a driving force at the start-up of the project was the elucidation of the reason for the observed increase in inhibitor tolerance of encapsulated yeast. From the encapsulated yeast, parallels could be drawn to flocculating yeast, which is nature's way of making the yeast grow at a high local cell density. Investigations conducted in this thesis demonstrated that the tolerance towards certain inhibitors could be directly linked to the fact that the cells were living tightly packed together.

The first hypothesis described in the introduction, that is, diffusion limitations would decrease the concentrations of inhibitors locally, showed to be correct in part. Some cells, 'acting as body guards', are exposed to the inhibitors and more or less forced to convert them. Other cells, further into the cell pellet of the floc or capsule, are thus virtually unaffected by the inhibitors. A prerequisite for such beneficial concentration gradients is that the cell population is able to convert the inhibitors into less inhibitory compounds.

The second hypothesis, that is, encapsulation triggers stress responses, was shown to be correct. The slow growth and nutrient limitations inside the capsules, and likely also inside dense yeast flocs, indeed led to a starvation stress response. Through stress cross-protection, the tolerance to additional stress of various kinds is thus believed to be increased. However, no additional specific effects of the encapsulation that would lead to increased tolerance to toxic hydrolysates could be elucidated through the investigation of the proteome.

The outcomes of the different subprojects are concluded as:

The constitutively flocculating yeast S. cerevisiae CCUG53310 was tolerant towards furan aldehydes and carboxylic acids, but sensitive towards phenolic compounds.

- Encapsulation-induced stress helped S. cerevisiae to tolerate convertible lignocellulose derived inhibitors, but not non-convertible.
- The increased stress tolerance of S. cerevisiae encapsulated in liquid core alginate-chitosan capsules came from nutrient limitation and slow growth. This led to a stress response, which is believed to increase the tolerance towards further stress.
- Encapsulation of a xylose fermenting yeast strain increased the cell community's ability to simultaneously utilise all hexoses and xylose present in a spruce hydrolysate medium.
- Strong flocculation with dense cell flocs increased the cell community's resistance towards lignocellulosic hydrolysates, and specifically towards the convertible inhibitor furfural. However, it did not result in visible benefits towards the not readily convertible carboxylic acids.

## **CHAPTER 8**

#### **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

To enable industrial implementations of the results obtained during my PhD project, and to obtain further proof of the hypotheses, a number of further projects are conceivable:

- The next logical step is the creation of a xylose fermenting flocculating yeast strain. If all hypotheses are correct, this would merge the knowledge obtained during my PhD project into a superior yeast strain.
- The cell surface hydrophobicity was significantly increased by the expression of flocculins. Furthermore, the high cell surface hydrophobicity was hypothesised to be a possible reason for the sensitivity to phenolic compounds of CCUG53310. Thus, in order to elucidate if the tolerance to the compounds is related to their hydrophobicity, investigations of the tolerance to different phenolic compounds need to be performed for the strongly flocculating yeast.
- Visualisation of the proposed gradients in the cellular physiology inside the capsules and flocs would give direct evidence in favour of the hypotheses laid forward in this thesis. During the work of the thesis, attempts were made to do this. Cells that expressed a fusion protein of GFP-Yap1p were encapsulated and grown in different media: non-inhibitory defined medium and spruce hydrolysate, until the capsules were full with cells. The cells in the capsules were thereafter fixed using various techniques, e.g. glutaraldehyde or formaldehyde, followed by embedding in agar or agarose and rapid freezing in N<sub>2</sub>(1). The embedded capsules were subsequently cut using a microtome, resulting in slices of capsules with only a few micrometres thickness. However, the attempts to visualise the gradients proved to be unsuccessful due to difficulties in quenching the autofluorescence caused by the fixation step. Less severe fixation led to leakage of the cells out of the cut capsules.

Using a microtome/cryostat to cut thin slices of yeast flocs expressing fluorescent proteins (preferably able to mature in anaerobic conditions), under the expression

of different promoters, could enable visualisation of the proposed gradients inside the flocs. Flocculating cells naturally attach to each other. Hence, the treatment needed to quench the autofluorescence could plausibly be performed without disruption of the cells in the cross-sections. This was not possible for the encapsulated cells of a non-flocculating yeast strain. However, encapsulation of the flocculating strains could possibly even simplify the visualisation of the gradients, as the cells would be better kept in place by the capsule membrane.

- In conjunction with the visualisation of different cell physiology, it would be of interest to investigate different sizes of capsules. Results from the visualisation could indicate an optimal size, where the inhibitor tolerance is still maintained and the specific productivity is as high as possible. This can also most likely be done using a strongly flocculating yeast strain where the size of the flocs can be adjusted by changing the reactor design and operational parameters.
- Finally, a necessary step on the way to industrial implementation is to scale up the fermentation of hydrolysates with flocculating xylose fermenting *S. cerevisiae* of an optimised floc size. Keeping the cell flocs at the optimal size without breaking, by e.g. the impellers or the high pressure in a larger reactor, is a challenge that might be encountered.

# NOMENCLATURE

2D-DIGE	Two Dimensional Difference Gel Electrophoresis
ADP/ATP	Adenosine Di/Tri-Phosphate
CBP	Consolidated Bio Processing
cDNA	Complementary DNA
DGM	Defined Glucose Medium
DW	Cell Dry Weight
ESR	Environmental Stress Response
FAD/FADH <sub>2</sub>	Flavine Adenine Dinucleotide
HMF	5-HydroxyMethyl-2-Furaldehyde
GRAS	Generally Recognised As Safe
MBR	Membrane BioReactor
mRNA	Messenger RNA
nLC-MS/MS	Nano-Liquid Chromatography Mass Spectrometry/Mass Spectrometry
NAD/NADH	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide
NADP/NADPH	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate
PTMs	Post Translational Modifications
SSF	Simultaneous Saccharification and Fermentation
SHF	Separate Hydrolysis and Fermentation
TCA cycle	TriCarboxylic Acid cycle
qPCR	Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The road to the PhD degree is surely longer than most people dare imagining. Reaching the goal has been my own responsibility, but fortunately there have been a lot of people cheering and helping along the way.

Calle and Mohammad, my supervisors, thank you for the never ending support and all the time you have set aside for discussions with me.

Lisbeth, my examiner, thank you for keeping an eye on my progress over the years and for letting me be a part of the Industrial Biotechnology group.

I would like to thank everyone working at the School of Engineering (University of Borås) for my almost five years there. I especially want to thank Jonas for all his help in the lab, Tatiana for discussions on anything and everything, Peter for his understanding of a PhD student's problems and needs and Elisabeth for microbiology discussions. I would also like to thank the local Saco-s union board for giving me a break from research and teaching.

My gratitude also goes to the staff at Chalmers that I have come to know over the years.

I would also like to thank the (former and current) PhD students and post docs that I have come to know over the years at both the University of Borås and at Chalmers. Especially Päivi for all our discussions during both good and less good times of our studies!

The master's students whose thesis works I have supervised over the years as a PhD student also deserve a thank you for all their hard work in the lab.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, especially Supansa, 'Dr Aom', without whom this journey would have seemed a lot longer.

Johan Westman January 2014

## REFERENCES

- 1. Naik SN, Goud VV, Rout PK, Dalai AK (2010) Production of first and second generation biofuels: A comprehensive review. Renew Sust Energ Rev 14: 578-597.
- 2. Keyser MA, Merbis MD, Voortman RL (2008) The biofuel controversy. De Economist 156: 507-527.
- 3. Taherzadeh MJ, Karimi K (2008) Pretreatment of lignocellulosic wastes to improve ethanol and biogas production: A review. Int J Mol Sci 9: 1621-1651.
- 4. Himmel ME, Ding S-Y, Johnson DK, Adney WS, Nimlos MR, Brady JW, Foust TD (2007) Biomass Recalcitrance: Engineering Plants and Enzymes for Biofuels Production. Science 315: 804-807.
- 5. Klinke HB, Thomsen AB, Ahring BK (2004) Inhibition of ethanol-producing yeast and bacteria by degradation products produced during pre-treatment of biomass. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 66: 10-26.
- 6. Galbe M, Sassner P, Wingren A, Zacchi G (2007) Process Engineering Economics of Bioethanol Production. In: Olsson L, editor. Biofuels: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. pp. 303-327.
- 7. Kim SR, Park Y-C, Jin Y-S, Seo J-H (2013) Strain engineering of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for enhanced xylose metabolism. Biotechnol Adv 31: 851-861.
- 8. Talebnia F, Niklasson C, Taherzadeh MJ (2005) Ethanol production from glucose and dilute-acid hydrolyzates by encapsulated *S. cerevisiae*. Biotechnol Bioeng 90: 345-353.
- 9. Solomon BD, Barnes JR, Halvorsen KE (2007) Grain and cellulosic ethanol: History, economics, and energy policy. Biomass Bioenerg 31: 416-425.
- 10. Kovarik B (1998) Henry Ford, Charles F. Kettering and the fuel of the future. Automot Hist.
- 11. Viikari L, Vehmaanperä J, Koivula A (2012) Lignocellulosic ethanol: From science to industry. Biomass Bioenerg 46: 13-24.
- 12. (2013) Ethanol industry statistics <u>http://www.ethanolrfa.org/pages/statistics</u>
- 13. Brown TR, Brown RC (2013) A review of cellulosic biofuel commercial-scale projects in the United States. Biofuel Bioprod Bior 7: 235-245.
- Geddes CC, Nieves IU, Ingram LO (2011) Advances in ethanol production. Curr Opin Biotechnol 22: 312-319.
- 15. McGovern PE, Glusker DL, Exner LJ, Voigt MM (1996) Neolithic resinated wine. Nature 381: 480-481.
- Havlík P, Schneider UA, Schmid E, Böttcher H, Fritz S, Skalský R, Aoki K, Cara SD, Kindermann G, Kraxner F, Leduc S, McCallum I, Mosnier A, Sauer T, Obersteiner M (2011) Global land-use implications of first and second generation biofuel targets. Energ Policy 39: 5690-5702.
- 17. Lin Y, Tanaka S (2006) Ethanol fermentation from biomass resources: current state and prospects. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 69: 627-642.
- 18. Contestabile M, Offer GJ, Slade R, Jaeger F, Thoennes M (2011) Battery electric vehicles, hydrogen fuel cells and biofuels. Which will be the winner? Energ Environ Sci 4: 3754-3772.
- 19. Erickson B, Nelson JE, Winters P (2012) Perspective on opportunities in industrial biotechnology in renewable chemicals. Biotechnol J 7: 176-185.

- 20. Mussatto SI, Dragone G, Guimarães PMR, Silva JPA, Carneiro LM, Roberto IC, Vicente A, Domingues L, Teixeira JA (2010) Technological trends, global market, and challenges of bio-ethanol production. Biotechnol Adv 28: 817-830.
- 21. Horn S, Vaaje-Kolstad G, Westereng B, Eijsink VG (2012) Novel enzymes for the degradation of cellulose. Biotechnol Biofuels 5: 45.
- 22. O'Sullivan A (1997) Cellulose: the structure slowly unravels. Cellulose 4: 173-207.
- 23. Scheller HV, Ulvskov P (2010) Hemicelluloses. Annu Rev Plant Biol 61: 263-289.
- 24. Taherzadeh MJ, Eklund R, Gustafsson L, Niklasson C, Liden G (1997) Characterization and fermentation of dilute-acid hydrolyzates from wood. Ind Eng Chem Res 36: 4659-4665.
- 25. Himmel ME (2008) Biomass recalcitrance: deconstructing the plant cell wall for bioenergy. Oxford: Wiley.
- 26. Lynd L (1990) Large-scale fuel ethanol from lignocellulose. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 24-25: 695-719.
- 27. Mosier N, Wyman C, Dale B, Elander R, Lee YY, Holtzapple M, Ladisch M (2005) Features of promising technologies for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass. Bioresour Technol 96: 673-686.
- 28. Larsen J, Haven MØ, Thirup L (2013) Inbicon makes lignocellulosic ethanol a commercial reality. Biomass Bioenerg 46: 36-45.
- 29. Boerjan W, Ralph J, Baucher M (2003) Lignin biosynthesis. Annu Rev Plant Biol 54: 519-546.
- 30. Chandra RP, Bura R, Mabee WE, Berlin A, Pan X, Saddler JN (2007) Substrate pretreatment: the key to effective enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosics? Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 108: 67-93.
- 31. Sánchez ÓJ, Cardona CA (2008) Trends in biotechnological production of fuel ethanol from different feedstocks. Bioresour Technol 99: 5270-5295.
- 32. Lynd LR, Weimer PJ, Van Zyl WH, Pretorius IS (2002) Microbial cellulose utilization: fundamentals and biotechnology. Microbiol Mol Biol R 66: 506-577.
- 33. Larsson S, Palmqvist E, Hahn-Hägerdal B, Tengborg C, Stenberg K, Zacchi G, Nilvebrant N-O (1999) The generation of fermentation inhibitors during dilute acid hydrolysis of softwood. Enzyme Microb Technol 24: 151-159.
- 34. Olsson L, Jørgensen H, Krogh KBR, Roca C (2005) Bioethanol Production from Lignocellulosic Material. In: Dumitriu S, editor. Polysaccharides: CRC Press.
- 35. Taherzadeh MJ, Karimi K (2007) Acid-based hydrolysis processes for ethanol from lignocellulosic materials: a review. Bioresources 2: 472-499.
- 36. Galbe M, Zacchi G (2002) A review of the production of ethanol from softwood. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 59: 618-628.
- Wilson DB (2011) Microbial diversity of cellulose hydrolysis. Curr Opin Microbiol 14: 259-263.
- 38. Reese E. History of the cellulase program at the US Army Natick Development Center; 1976. Army Natick Development Center, MA.
- 39. Cherry JR, Fidantsef AL (2003) Directed evolution of industrial enzymes: an update. Curr Opin Biotechnol 14: 438-443.
- 40. Wood TM (1985) Properties of cellulolytic enzyme systems. Biochem Soc Trans 13: 407-410.
- Xiao Z, Zhang X, Gregg D, Saddler J (2004) Effects of sugar inhibition on cellulases and β-glucosidase during enzymatic hydrolysis of softwood substrates. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 115: 1115-1126.

- 42. Olofsson K, Bertilsson M, Lidén G (2008) A short review on SSF-an interesting process option for ethanol production from lignocellulosic feedstocks. Biotechnol Biofuels 1: 1-14.
- Szczodrak J, Targoński Z (1988) Selection of thermotolerant yeast strains for simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of cellulose. Biotechnol Bioeng 31: 300-303.
- 44. Spindler DD, Wyman CE, Grohmann K (1989) Evaluation of thermotolerant yeasts in controlled simultaneous saccharifications and fermentations of cellulose to ethanol. Biotechnol Bioeng 34: 189-195.
- 45. Morimura S, Ling ZY, Kida K (1997) Ethanol production by repeated-batch fermentation at high temperature in a molasses medium containing a high concentration of total sugar by a thermotolerant flocculating yeast with improved salt-tolerance. J Ferment Bioeng 83: 271-274.
- 46. Ylitervo P, Franzén CJ, Taherzadeh MJ (2011) Ethanol production at elevated temperatures using encapsulation of yeast. J Biotechnol 156: 22-29.
- 47. Wilson DB (2009) Cellulases and biofuels. Curr Opin Biotechnol 20: 295-299.
- 48. Lynd LR, Zyl WHv, McBride JE, Laser M (2005) Consolidated bioprocessing of cellulosic biomass: an update. Curr Opin Biotechnol 16: 577-583.
- 49. den Haan R, Kroukamp H, Mert M, Bloom M, Görgens JF, van Zyl WH (2013) Engineering *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for next generation ethanol production. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 88: 983-991.
- Brown SD, Guss AM, Karpinets TV, Parks JM, Smolin N, Yang S, Land ML, Klingeman DM, Bhandiwad A, Rodriguez M, Raman B, Shao X, Mielenz JR, Smith JC, Keller M, Lynd LR (2011) Mutant alcohol dehydrogenase leads to improved ethanol tolerance in *Clostridium thermocellum*. P Natl Acad Sci 108: 13752-13757.
- 51. Olson DG, McBride JE, Joe Shaw A, Lynd LR (2012) Recent progress in consolidated bioprocessing. Curr Opin Biotechnol 23: 396-405.
- Andreasen AA, Stier TJB (1953) Anaerobic nutrition of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. I. Ergosterol requirement for growth in a defined medium. J Cell Compar Physl 41: 23-36.
- Andreasen AA, Stier TJB (1954) Anaerobic nutrition of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. II. Unsaturated fatty and requirement for growth in a defined medium. J Cell Compar Physl 43: 271-281.
- 54. Verduyn C, Stouthamer A, Scheffers WA, Dijken J (1991) A theoretical evaluation of growth yields of yeasts. Anton Leeuw 59: 49-63.
- 55. Verduyn C, Zomerdijk TL, Dijken J, Scheffers WA (1984) Continuous measurement of ethanol production by aerobic yeast suspensions with an enzyme electrode. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 19: 181-185.
- 56. Crabtree HG (1928) The carbohydrate metabolism of certain pathological overgrowths. Biochem J 22: 1289.
- 57. Crabtree HG (1929) Observations on the carbohydrate metabolism of tumours. Biochem J 23: 536.
- 58. Pronk JT, Yde Steensma H, Van Dijken JP (1996) Pyruvate Metabolism in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Yeast 12: 1607-1633.
- 59. Postma E, Verduyn C, Scheffers WA, Van Dijken JP (1989) Enzymic analysis of the crabtree effect in glucose-limited chemostat cultures of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Appl Environ Microbiol 55: 468-477.
- 60. Carlson M (1999) Glucose repression in yeast. Curr Opin Microbiol 2: 202-207.

- 61. Piškur J, Rozpędowska E, Polakova S, Merico A, Compagno C (2006) How did *Saccharomyces* evolve to become a good brewer? Trends Genet 22: 183-186.
- 62. Reifenberger E, Freidel K, Ciriacy M (1995) Identification of novel *HXT* genes in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* reveals the impact of individual hexose transporters on glycolytic flux. Mol Microbiol 16: 157-167.
- 63. Herman RH (1971) Mannose metabolism. I. Am J Clin Nutr 24: 488-498.
- 64. Frey PA (1996) The Leloir pathway: a mechanistic imperative for three enzymes to change the stereochemical configuration of a single carbon in galactose. FASEB J 10: 461-470.
- 65. Sellick CA, Campbell RN, Reece RJ, Kwang WJ (2008) Chapter 3 Galactose Metabolism in Yeast-Structure and Regulation of the Leloir Pathway Enzymes and the Genes Encoding Them. International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology: Academic Press. pp. 111-150.
- 66. Tschopp JF, Emr SD, Field C, Schekman R (1986) *GAL2* codes for a membranebound subunit of the galactose permease in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Bacteriol 166: 313-318.
- 67. Reifenberger E, Boles E, Ciriacy M (1997) Kinetic characterization of individual hexose transporters of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and their relation to the triggering mechanisms of glucose repression. Eur J Biochem 245: 324-333.
- 68. Bruinenberg PM, Van Dijken JP, Scheffers WA (1983) A theoretical analysis of NADPH production and consumption in yeasts. J Gen Microbiol 129: 953-964.
- 69. Van Zyl C, Prior BA, Kilian SG, Kock JLF (1989) D-Xylose Utilization by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Gen Microbiol 135: 2791-2798.
- 70. Kötter P, Ciriacy M (1993) Xylose fermentation by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 38: 776-783.
- 71. du Preez J, Bosch M, Prior B (1987) Temperature profiles of growth and ethanol tolerance of the xylose-fermenting yeasts *Candida shehatae* and *Pichia stipitis*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 25: 521-525.
- 72. Walfridsson M, Bao X, Anderlund M, Lilius G, Bülow L, Hahn-Hägerdal B (1996) Ethanolic fermentation of xylose with *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* harboring the *Thermus thermophilus* xylA gene, which expresses an active xylose (glucose) isomerase. Appl Environ Microbiol 62: 4648-4651.
- 73. Kuyper M, Harhangi HR, Stave AK, Winkler AA, Jetten MSM, de Laat WTAM, den Ridder JJJ, Op den Camp HJM, van Dijken JP, Pronk JT (2003) High-level functional expression of a fungal xylose isomerase: the key to efficient ethanolic fermentation of xylose by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*? FEMS Yeast Res 4: 69-78.
- 74. Kuyper M, Winkler AA, van Dijken JP, Pronk JT (2004) Minimal metabolic engineering of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for efficient anaerobic xylose fermentation: a proof of principle. FEMS Yeast Res 4: 655-664.
- 75. Krahulec S, Petschacher B, Wallner M, Longus K, Klimacek M, Nidetzky B (2010) Fermentation of mixed glucose-xylose substrates by engineered strains of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: role of the coenzyme specificity of xylose reductase, and effect of glucose on xylose utilization. Microb Cell Fact 9: 16.
- Ho NW, Chen Z, Brainard AP (1998) Genetically engineered *Saccharomyces* Yeast capable of effective cofermentation of Glucose and Xylose. Appl Environ Microbiol 64: 1852-1859.
- 77. Johansson B, Hahn-Hägerdal B (2002) The non-oxidative pentose phosphate pathway controls the fermentation rate of xylulose but not of xylose in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* TMB3001. FEMS Yeast Res 2: 277-282.

- 78. Meinander NQ, Boels I, Hahn-Hägerdal B (1999) Fermentation of xylose/glucose mixtures by metabolically engineered *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strains expressing *XYL1* and *XYL2* from *Pichia stipitis* with and without overexpression of *TAL1*. Bioresour Technol 68: 79-87.
- 79. Kuyper M, Hartog MMP, Toirkens MJ, Almering MJH, Winkler AA, van Dijken JP, Pronk JT (2005) Metabolic engineering of a xylose-isomerase-expressing *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain for rapid anaerobic xylose fermentation. FEMS Yeast Res 5: 399-409.
- 80. Karhumaa K, Hahn-Hägerdal B, Gorwa-Grauslund M-F (2005) Investigation of limiting metabolic steps in the utilization of xylose by recombinant *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* using metabolic engineering. Yeast 22: 359-368.
- 81. Kim SR, Kwee NR, Kim H, Jin Y-S (2013) Feasibility of xylose fermentation by engineered *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* overexpressing endogenous aldose reductase (*GRE3*), xylitol dehydrogenase (*XYL2*), and xylulokinase (*XYL3*) from *Scheffersomyces stipitis*. FEMS Yeast Res 13: 312-321.
- 82. Moon J, Lewis Liu Z, Ma M, Slininger PJ (2013) New genotypes of industrial yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* engineered with *YXI* and heterologous xylose transporters improve xylose utilization and ethanol production. Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology 2: 247-254.
- 83. Becker J, Boles E (2003) A Modified *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* Strain That Consumes I-Arabinose and Produces Ethanol. Appl Environ Microbiol 69: 4144-4150.
- 84. Bettiga M, Bengtsson O, Hahn-Hägerdal B, Gorwa-Grauslund M (2009) Arabinose and xylose fermentation by recombinant *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* expressing a fungal pentose utilization pathway. Microb Cell Fact 8: 40.
- 85. Panek AD (1975) Trehalose synthesis during starvation of baker's yeast. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2: 39-46.
- 86. Li L, Ye Y, Pan L, Zhu Y, Zheng S, Lin Y (2009) The induction of trehalose and glycerol in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* in response to various stresses. Biochem Bioph Res Co 387: 778-783.
- Luyten K, Albertyn J, Skibbe WF, Prior B, Ramos J, Thevelein J, Hohmann S (1995) Fps1, a yeast member of the MIP family of channel proteins, is a facilitator for glycerol uptake and efflux and is inactive under osmotic stress. EMBO J 14: 1360.
- 88. Herrero E, Ros J, Bellí G, Cabiscol E (2008) Redox control and oxidative stress in yeast cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1780: 1217-1235.
- 89. Ask M, Mapelli V, Hock H, Olsson L, Bettiga M (2013) Engineering glutathione biosynthesis of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* increases robustness to inhibitors in pretreated lignocellulosic materials. Microb Cell Fact 12: 87.
- 90. Sanchez Y, Taulien J, Borkovich K, Lindquist S (1992) Hsp104 is required for tolerance to many forms of stress. EMBO J 11: 2357.
- 91. Qiu X, Shao Y, Miao S, Wang L (2006) The diversity of the DnaJ/Hsp40 family, the crucial partners for Hsp70 chaperones. Cell Mol Life Sci 63: 2560-2570.
- 92. Holyoak CD, Bracey D, Piper PW, Kuchler K, Coote PJ (1999) The Saccharomyces cerevisiae Weak-Acid-Inducible ABC Transporter Pdr12 Transports Fluorescein and Preservative Anions from the Cytosol by an Energy-Dependent Mechanism. J Bacteriol 181: 4644-4652.
- 93. Alarco A-M, Balan I, Talibi D, Mainville N, Raymond M (1997) AP1-mediated multidrug resistance in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* requires *FLR1* encoding a transporter of the major facilitator superfamily. J Biol Chem 272: 19304-19313.

- 94. Olsson L, Hahn-Hägerdal B (1993) Fermentative performance of bacteria and yeasts in lignocellulose hydrolysates. Process Biochem 28: 249-257.
- 95. Liu ZL (2011) Molecular mechanisms of yeast tolerance and in situ detoxification of lignocellulose hydrolysates. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 90: 809-825.
- 96. Klinke HB, Olsson L, Thomsen AB, Ahring BK (2003) Potential inhibitors from wet oxidation of wheat straw and their effect on ethanol production of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: Wet oxidation and fermentation by yeast. Biotechnol Bioeng 81: 738-747.
- 97. Fagerson IS (1969) Thermal degradation of carbohydrates; a review. J Agr Food Chem 17: 747-750.
- 98. Palmqvist E, Grage H, Meinander NQ, Hahn-Hägerdal B (1999) Main and interaction effects of acetic acid, furfural, and p-hydroxybenzoic acid on growth and ethanol productivity of yeasts. Biotechnol Bioeng 63: 46-55.
- 99. Taherzadeh MJ, Gustafsson L, Niklasson C, Lidén G (1999) Conversion of furfural in aerobic and anaerobic batch fermentation of glucose by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Biosci Bioeng 87: 169-174.
- 100. Taherzadeh MJ, Gustafsson L, Niklasson C, Lidén G (2000) Inhibition effects of furfural on aerobic batch cultivation of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* growing on ethanol and/or acetic acid. J Biosci Bioeng 90: 374-380.
- 101. Sárvári Horváth I, Taherzadeh MJ, Niklasson C, Lidén G (2001) Effects of furfural on anaerobic continuous cultivation of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Biotechnol Bioeng 75: 540-549.
- 102. Sárvári Horváth I, Franzen CJ, Taherzadeh MJ, Niklasson C, Liden G (2003) Effects of furfural on the respiratory metabolism of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* in glucose-limited chemostats. Appl Environ Microbiol 69: 4076-4086.
- 103. Lin F-M, Qiao B, Yuan Y-J (2009) Comparative Proteomic Analysis of Tolerance and Adaptation of Ethanologenic *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* to Furfural, a Lignocellulosic Inhibitory Compound. Appl Environ Microbiol 75: 3765-3776.
- 104. Lin F-M, Tan Y, Yuan Y-J (2009) Temporal quantitative proteomics of Saccharomyces cerevisiae in response to a nonlethal concentration of furfural. Proteomics 9: 5471-5483.
- 105. Ask M, Bettiga M, Mapelli V, Olsson L (2013) The influence of HMF and furfural on redox-balance and energy-state of xylose-utilizing *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Biotechnol Biofuels 6: 22.
- 106. Ylitervo Pi, Franzén C, Taherzadeh M (2013) Impact of Furfural on Rapid Ethanol Production Using a Membrane Bioreactor. Energies 6: 1604-1617.
- 107. Taherzadeh MJ, Niklasson C, Lidén G (2000) On-line control of fed-batch fermentation of dilute-acid hydrolyzates. Biotechnol Bioeng 69: 330-338.
- Taherzadeh MJ, Gustafsson L, Niklasson C, Lidén G (2000) Physiological effects of 5-hydroxymethylfurfural on *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 53: 701-708.
- 109. Almeida JRM, Modig T, Petersson A, Hähn-Hägerdal B, Lidén G, Gorwa-Grauslund MF (2007) Increased tolerance and conversion of inhibitors in lignocellulosic hydrolysates by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 82: 340-349.
- 110. Petersson A, Almeida JRM, Modig T, Karhumaa K, Hahn-Hägerdahl B, Gorwa-Grauslund MF, Lidén G (2006) A 5-hydroxymethyl furfural reducing enzyme encoded by the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae ADH6* gene conveys HMF tolerance. Yeast 23: 455-464.

- 111. Wahlbom CF, Hahn–Hägerdal B (2002) Furfural, 5-hydroxymethyl furfural, and acetoin act as external electron acceptors during anaerobic fermentation of xylose in recombinant *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Biotechnol Bioeng 78: 172-178.
- 112. Terebelski D, Ralph N (2003) Pickle History Timeline http://www.nyfoodmuseum.org/\_ptime.htm [cited 2013-10-02]
- 113. Palmqvist E, Hahn-Hägerdal B (2000) Fermentation of lignocellulosic hydrolysates. II: inhibitors and mechanisms of inhibition. Bioresour Technol 74: 25-33.
- 114. Kahlenberg L, True RH (1896) On the Toxic Action of Dissolved Salts and Their Electrolytic Dissociation. Bot Gaz 22: 81-124.
- 115. Serrano R (1988) H+-ATPase from Plasma Membranes of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Arena sativa* Roots: Purification and Reconstitution. Method Enzymol 157: 533-544.
- 116. Taherzadeh MJ, Niklasson C, Lidén G (1997) Acetic acid-friend or foe in anaerobic batch conversion of glucose to ethanol by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*? Chem Eng Sci 52: 2653-2659.
- 117. Russell JB (1992) Another explanation for the toxicity of fermentation acids at low pH: anion accumulation versus uncoupling. J Appl Bacteriol 73: 363-370.
- Larsson S, Reimann A, Nilvebrant N-O, Jönsson L (1999) Comparison of different methods for the detoxification of lignocellulose hydrolyzates of spruce. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 77: 91-103.
- 119. Sikkema J, de Bont JA, Poolman B (1995) Mechanisms of membrane toxicity of hydrocarbons. Microbiol Rev 59: 201-222.
- Heipieper HJ, Weber FJ, Sikkema J, Keweloh H, de Bont JAM (1994) Mechanisms of resistance of whole cells to toxic organic solvents. TRENDS Biotechnol 12: 409-415.
- 121. Lashkari DA, DeRisi JL, McCusker JH, Namath AF, Gentile C, Hwang SY, Brown PO, Davis RW (1997) Yeast microarrays for genome wide parallel genetic and gene expression analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94: 13057-13062.
- 122. Heid CA, Stevens J, Livak KJ, Williams PM (1996) Real time quantitative PCR. Genome Res 6: 986-994.
- 123. Gygi SP, Rochon Y, Franza BR, Aebersold R (1999) Correlation between Protein and mRNA Abundance in Yeast. Mol Cell Biol 19: 1720-1730.
- 124. Castrillo JI, Zeef LA, Hoyle DC, Zhang N, Hayes A, Gardner DC, Cornell MJ, Petty J, Hakes L, Wardleworth L (2007) Growth control of the eukaryote cell: a systems biology study in yeast. J Biol 6: 4.
- 125. Gygi SP, Corthals GL, Zhang Y, Rochon Y, Aebersold R (2000) Evaluation of two-dimensional gel electrophoresisbased proteome analysis technology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97: 9390-9395.
- 126. Mashego MR, Rumbold K, De Mey M, Vandamme E, Soetaert W, Heijnen JJ (2007) Microbial metabolomics: past, present and future methodologies. Biotechnol Lett 29: 1-16.
- 127. Stanbury PF (1988) Fermentation technology. Extraction 2: 1.1.
- 128. Brandberg T, Franzén CJ, Gustafsson L (2004) The fermentation performance of nine strains of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* in batch and fed-batch cultures in dilute-acid wood hydrolysate. J Biosci Bioeng 98: 122-125.
- 129. Taherzadeh MJ, Niklasson C, Liden G (1999) Conversion of dilute-acid hydrolyzates of spruce and birch to ethanol by fed-batch fermentation. Bioresour Technol 69: 59-66.

- 130. Dairaku K, Yamasaki Y, Kuki K, Shioya S, Takamatsu T (1981) Maximum production in a bakers' yeast fed-batch culture by a tubing method. Biotechnol Bioeng 23: 2069-2081.
- 131. Verduyn C (1991) Physiology of yeasts in relation to biomass yields. In: Stouthamer AH, editor. Quantitative Aspects of Growth and Metabolism of Microorganisms: Springer Netherlands. pp. 325-353.
- 132. Verbelen P, De Schutter D, Delvaux F, Verstrepen K, Delvaux F (2006) Immobilized yeast cell systems for continuous fermentation applications. Biotechnol Lett 28: 1515-1525.
- 133. Taherzadeh MJ, Millati R, Niklasson C (2001) Continuous cultivation of diluteacid hydrolysates to ethanol by immobilized *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 95: 45-57.
- 134. Talebnia F, Taherzadeh MJ (2006) In situ detoxification and continuous cultivation of dilute-acid hydrolyzate to ethanol by encapsulated *S. cerevisiae*. J Biotechnol 125: 377-384.
- 135. Brandberg T, Karimi K, Taherzadeh MJ, Franzén CJ, Gustafsson L (2007) Continuous fermentation of wheat-supplemented lignocellulose hydrolysate with different types of cell retention. Biotechnol Bioeng 98: 80-90.
- 136. Purwadi R, Brandberg T, Taherzadeh MJ (2007) A possible industrial solution to ferment lignocellulosic hydrolyzate to ethanol: continuous cultivation with flocculating yeast. Int J Mol Sci 8: 920-932.
- 137. Wang Z-W, Chen S (2009) Potential of biofilm-based biofuel production. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 83: 1-18.
- 138. Westman JO, Ylitervo P, Franzén C, Taherzadeh MJ (2012) Effects of encapsulation of microorganisms on product formation during microbial fermentations. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 96: 1441-1454.
- 139. Chung IS, Lee YY (1985) Ethanol fermentation of crude acid hydrolyzate of cellulose using high-level yeast inocula. Biotechnol Bioeng 27: 308-315.
- 140. Brandberg T, Sanandaji N, Gustafsson L, Franzén CJ (2005) Continuous fermentation of undetoxified dilute acid lignocellulose hydrolysate by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* ATCC 96581 using cell recirculation. Biotechnol Prog 21: 1093-1101.
- 141. Talebnia F, Taherzadeh MJ (2007) Physiological and morphological study of encapsulated *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Enzyme Microb Technol 41: 683-688.
- 142. Tang Y, An M, Liu K, Nagai S, Shigematsu T, Morimura S, Kida K (2006) Ethanol production from acid hydrolysate of wood biomass using the flocculating yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain KF-7. Process Biochem 41: 909-914.
- 143. Lindén T, Peetre J, Hahn-Hägerdal B (1992) Isolation and characterization of acetic acid-tolerant galactose-fermenting strains of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* from a spent sulfite liquor fermentation plant. Appl Environ Microbiol 58: 1661-1669.
- 144. Martín C, Jönsson LJ (2003) Comparison of the resistance of industrial and laboratory strains of *Saccharomyces* and *Zygosaccharomyces* to lignocellulose-derived fermentation inhibitors. Enzyme Microb Technol 32: 386-395.
- 145. Sanchez i Nogue V, Bettiga M, Gorwa-Grauslund M (2012) Isolation and characterization of a resident tolerant *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain from a spent sulfite liquor fermentation plant. AMB Express 2: 68.
- 146. Cheong SH, Park JK, Kim BS, Chang HN (1993) Microencapsulation of yeast cells in the calcium alginate membrane. Biotechnol Tech 7: 879-884.

- 147. Gåserød O, Smidsrød O, Skjåk-Bræk G (1998) Microcapsules of alginate-chitosan
  I. A quantitative study of the interaction between alginate and chitosan. Biomaterials 19: 1815-1825.
- 148. Serp D, Cantana E, Heinzen C, von Stockar U, Marison IW (2000) Characterization of an encapsulation device for the production of monodisperse alginate beads for cell immobilization. Biotechnol Bioeng 70: 41-53.
- 149. Nigam SC, Tsao I-F, Sakoda A, Wang HY (1988) Techniques for preparing hydrogel membrane capsules. Biotechnol Lett 2: 271-276.
- 150. Liouni M, Drichoutis P, Nerantzis ET (2008) Studies of the mechanical properties and the fermentation behavior of double layer alginate–chitosan beads, using *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* entrapped cells. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 24: 281-288.
- 151. Qi W-t, Yu W-t, Xie Y-b, Ma X (2005) Optimization of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* culture in alginate–chitosan–alginate microcapsule. Biochem Eng J 25: 151-157.
- 152. Park JK, Chang HN (2000) Microencapsulation of microbial cells. Biotechnol Adv 18: 303-319.
- 153. Yoo I-K, Seong GH, Chang HN, Park JK (1996) Encapsulation of *Lactobacillus casei* cells in liquid-core alginate capsules for lactic acid production. Enzyme Microb Technol 19: 428-433.
- 154. Chang HN, Seong GH, Yoo I-K, Park JK, Seo J-H (1996) Microencapsulation of Recombinant Saccharohmyces cerevisiae Cells with Invertase Activity in Liquid-Core Alginate Capsules. Biotechnol Bioeng 51: 157-162.
- 155. Ylitervo P, Franzén CJ, Taherzadeh MJ (2012) Mechanically robust polysiloxane– ACA capsules for prolonged ethanol production. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 88: 1080-1088.
- 156. Verstrepen KJ, Derdelinckx G, Verachtert H, Delvaux FR (2003) Yeast flocculation: what brewers should know. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 61: 197-205.
- Salim S, Bosma R, Vermuë M, Wijffels R (2011) Harvesting of microalgae by bioflocculation. J Appl Phycol 23: 849-855.
- 158. Lettinga G, van Velsen AFM, Hobma SW, de Zeeuw W, Klapwijk A (1980) Use of the upflow sludge blanket (USB) reactor concept for biological wastewater treatment, especially for anaerobic treatment. Biotechnol Bioeng 22: 699-734.
- 159. Teunissen AWRH, Steensma HY (1995) The dominant flocculation genes of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* constitute a new subtelomeric gene family. Yeast 11: 1001-1013.
- 160. Kobayashi O, Yoshimoto H, Sone H (1999) Analysis of the genes activated by the *FLO8* gene in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Curr Genet 36: 256-261.
- Miki BLA, Poon NH, James AP, Seligy VL (1982) Possible mechanism for flocculation interactions goverened by gene *FLO1* in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Bacteriol 150: 878-889.
- 162. Stratford M, Coleman HP, Keenan MHJ (1988) Yeast flocculation: a dynamic equilibrium. Yeast 4: 199-208.
- 163. Stratford M (1989) Yeast flocculation: calcium specificity. Yeast 5: 487-496.
- 164. Stratford M, Assinder S (1991) Yeast flocculation: Flo 1 and NewFlo phenotypes and receptor structure. Yeast 7: 559-574.
- 165. Verstrepen KJ, Klis FM (2006) Flocculation, adhesion and biofilm formation in yeasts. Mol Microbiol 60: 5-15.
- 166. Veelders M, Brückner S, Ott D, Unverzagt C, Mösch H-U, Essen L-O (2010) Structural basis of flocculin-mediated social behavior in yeast. P Natl Acad Sci.

- 167. Goossens K, Willaert R (2010) Flocculation protein structure and cell-cell adhesion mechanism in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Biotechnol Lett 32: 1571-1585.
- Bony M, Thines-Sempoux D, Barre P, Blondin B (1997) Localization and cell surface anchoring of the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* flocculation protein Flo1p. J Bacteriol 179: 4929-4936.
- 169. van Mulders SE, Christianen E, Saerens SMG, Daenen L, Verbelen PJ, Willaert R, Verstrepen KJ, Delvaux FR (2009) Phenotypic diversity of Flo protein familymediated adhesion in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. FEMS Yeast Res 9: 178-190.
- 170. Lambrechts MG, Bauer FF, Marmur J, Pretorius IS (1996) Muc1, a mucin-like protein that is regulated by Mss10, is critical for pseudohyphal differentiation in yeast. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93: 8419-8424.
- 171. Gagiano M, Bauer FF, Pretorius IS (2002) The sensing of nutritional status and the relationship to filamentous growth in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. FEMS Yeast Res 2: 433-470.
- 172. Zhao X-Q, Li Q, He L-Y, Li F, Que W-W, Bai F-W (2011) Exploration of a natural reservoir of flocculating genes from various *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strains and improved ethanol fermentation using stable genetically engineered flocculating yeast strains. Process Biochem.
- 173. Sieiro C, Reboredo NM, Villa TG (1995) Flocculation of industrial and laboratory strains of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Ind Microbiol 14: 461-466.
- 174. Powell CD, Quain DE, Smart KA (2003) The impact of brewing yeast cell age on fermentation performance, attenuation and flocculation. FEMS Yeast Res 3: 149-157.
- 175. Stratford M (1993) Yeast Flocculation: Flocculation Onset and Receptor Availability. Yeast 9: 85-94.
- 176. Sampermans S, Mortier J, Soares EV (2005) Flocculation onset in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: the role of nutrients. J Appl Microbiol 98: 525-531.
- 177. Lawrence S, Smart K (2007) Impact of CO<sub>2</sub>-induced anaerobiosis on the assessment of brewing yeast flocculation. J Am Soc Brew Chem 65: 208-213.
- 178. Smit G, Straver MH, Lugtenberg BJJ, Kijne JW (1992) Flocculence of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* cells is induced by nutrient limitation, with cell surface hydrophobicity as a major determinant. Appl Environ Microbiol 58: 3709-3714.
- 179. Speers RA, Wan Y-Q, Jin Y-L, Stewart RJ (2006) Effects of fermentation parameters and cell wall properties on yeast flocculation. J Inst Brew 112: 246-254.
- 180. Nijkamp J, van den Broek M, Datema E, de Kok S, Bosman L, Luttik M, Daran-Lapujade P, Vongsangnak W, Nielsen J, Heijne W, Klaassen P, Paddon C, Platt D, Kotter P, van Ham R, Reinders M, Pronk J, de Ridder D, Daran J-M (2012) *De novo* sequencing, assembly and analysis of the genome of the laboratory strain *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* CEN.PK113-7D, a model for modern industrial biotechnology. Microb Cell Fact 11: 36.
- 181. Liu H, Styles CA, Fink GR (1996) *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* S288C has a mutation in *FLO8*, a gene required for filamentous growth. Genetics 144: 967-978.
- Teunissen AW, van den Berg JA, Steensma HY (1993) Physical localization of the flocculation gene *FLO1* on chromosome I of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Yeast 9: 1-10.
- 183. Goffeau A, Barrell BG, Bussey H, Davis RW, Dujon B, Feldmann H, Galibert F, Hoheisel JD, Jacq C, Johnston M, Louis EJ, Mewes HW, Murakami Y, Philippsen P, Tettelin H, Oliver SG (1996) Life with 6000 genes. Science 274: 546, 563-547.
- 184. van Dijken JP, Bauer J, Brambilla L, Duboc P, Francois JM, Gancedo C, Giuseppin MLF, Heijnen JJ, Hoare M, Lange HC, Madden EA, Niederberger P, Nielsen J,

Parrou JL, Petit T, Porro D, Reuss M, van Riel N, Rizzi M, Steensma HY, Verrips CT, Vindeløv J, Pronk JT (2000) An interlaboratory comparison of physiological and genetic properties of four *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strains. Enzyme Microb Technol 26: 706-714.

- 185. Govender P, Domingo JL, Bester MC, Pretorius IS, Bauer FF (2008) Controlled expression of the dominant flocculation genes *FLO1*, *FLO5*, and *FLO11* in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Appl Environ Microbiol 74: 6041-6052.
- Jentoft N (1990) Why are proteins O-glycosylated? Trends Biochem Sci 15: 291-294.
- 187. Alriksson B, Sárvári Horváth I, Jönsson LJ (2010) Overexpression of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* transcription factor and multidrug resistance genes conveys enhanced resistance to lignocellulose-derived fermentation inhibitors. Process Biochem 45: 264-271.
- 188. Koppram R, Albers E, Olsson L (2012) Evolutionary engineering strategies to enhance tolerance of xylose utilizing recombinant yeast to inhibitors derived from spruce biomass. Biotechnol Biofuels 5: 32.
- 189. Albers E, Larsson C (2009) A comparison of stress tolerance in YPD and industrial lignocellulose-based medium among industrial and laboratory yeast strains. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 36: 1085-1091.
- 190. Sundström L, Larsson S, Jönsson L (2009) Identification of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* genes involved in the resistance to phenolic fermentation inhibitors. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 161: 106-115.
- 191. Coleman ST, Tseng E, Moye-Rowley WS (1997) *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* basic region-leucine zipper protein regulatory networks converge at the *ATR1* structural gene. J Biol Chem 272: 23224-23230.
- 192. Nguyên D-T, Alarco A-M, Raymond M (2001) Multiple Yap1p-binding sites mediate induction of the yeast major facilitator *FLR1* gene in response to drugs, oxidants, and alkylating agents. J Biol Chem 276: 1138-1145.
- 193. Wiatrowski HA, Carlson M (2003) Yap1 accumulates in the nucleus in response to carbon stress in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Eukaryot Cell 2: 19-26.
- 194. Rodrigues-Pousada C, Menezes RA, Pimentel C (2010) The Yap family and its role in stress response. Yeast 27: 245-258.
- 195. Pourbafrani M, Talebnia F, Niklasson C, Taherzadeh MJ (2007) Protective effect of encapsulation in fermentation of limonene-contained media and orange peel hydrolyzate. Int J Mol Sci 8: 777-787.
- 196. Vilela-Moura A, Schuller D, Mendes-Faia A, Silva R, Chaves S, Sousa M, Côrte-Real M (2011) The impact of acetate metabolism on yeast fermentative performance and wine quality: reduction of volatile acidity of grape musts and wines. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 89: 271-280.
- 197. Gasch AP, Spellman PT, Kao CM, Carmel-Harel O, Eisen MB, Storz G, Botstein D, Brown PO (2000) Genomic Expression Programs in the Response of Yeast Cells to Environmental Changes. Mol Biol Cell 11: 4241-4257.
- 198. Gasch AP, Werner-Washburne M (2002) The genomics of yeast responses to environmental stress and starvation. Funct Integr Genomics 2: 181-192.
- 199. Özcan S, Johnston M (1999) Function and Regulation of Yeast Hexose Transporters. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 63: 554-569.
- 200. Bertilsson M, Andersson J, Lidén G (2008) Modeling simultaneous glucose and xylose uptake in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* from kinetics and gene expression of sugar transporters. Bioproc Biosyst Eng 31: 369-377.

- 201. Liang H, Gaber RF (1996) A novel signal transduction pathway in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* defined by Snf3-regulated expression of *HXT6*. Mol Biol Cell 7: 1953-1966.
- 202. Rodríguez A, De La Cera T, Herrero P, Moreno F (2001) The hexokinase 2 protein regulates the expression of the *GLK1*, *HXK1* and *HXK2* genes of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Biochem J 355: 625-631.
- 203. Voit EO (2003) Biochemical and genomic regulation of the trehalose cycle in yeast: review of observations and canonical model analysis. J Theor Biol 223: 55-78.
- 204. Pham TK, Wright PC (2008) Proteomic Analysis of Calcium Alginate-Immobilized *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* under High-Gravity Fermentation Conditions. J Proteome Res 7: 515-525.
- 205. Berry DB, Gasch AP (2008) Stress-activated genomic expression changes serve a preparative role for impending stress in yeast. Mol Biol Cell 19: 4580-4587.
- 206. Martinez-Pastor M, Marchler G, Schüller C, Marchler-Bauer A, Ruis H, Estruch F (1996) The *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* zinc finger proteins Msn2p and Msn4p are required for transcriptional induction through the stress response element (STRE). EMBO J 15: 2227.
- 207. Lu C, Brauer MJ, Botstein D (2009) Slow growth induces heat-shock resistance in normal and respiratory-deficient yeast. Mol Biol Cell 20: 891-903.
- 208. Komatsu Y, Kaul SC, Iwahashi H, Obuchi K (1990) Do heat shock proteins provide protection against freezing? FEMS Microbiol Lett 72: 159-162.
- 209. Lewis J, Learmonth R, Watson K (1995) Induction of heat, freezing and salt tolerance by heat and salt shock in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Microbiology 141: 687-694.
- 210. Lewis JG, Learmonth RP, Attfield PV, Watson K (1997) Stress co-tolerance and trehalose content in baking strains of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 18: 30-36.
- 211. Plesset J, Palm C, McLaughlin CS (1982) Induction of heat shock proteins and thermotolerance by ethanol in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Biochem Bioph Res Co 108: 1340-1345.
- 212. Causton HC, Ren B, Koh SS, Harbison CT, Kanin E, Jennings EG, Lee TI, True HL, Lander ES, Young RA (2001) Remodeling of yeast genome expression in response to environmental changes. Mol Biol Cell 12: 323-337.
- 213. Mitchell A, Romano GH, Groisman B, Yona A, Dekel E, Kupiec M, Dahan O, Pilpel Y (2009) Adaptive prediction of environmental changes by microorganisms. Nature 460: 220-224.
- 214. Brauer MJ, Huttenhower C, Airoldi EM, Rosenstein R, Matese JC, Gresham D, Boer VM, Troyanskaya OG, Botstein D (2008) Coordination of growth rate, cell cycle, stress response, and metabolic activity in yeast. Mol Biol Cell 19: 352-367.
- 215. Elliott B, Futcher B (1993) Stress resistance of yeast cells is largely independent of cell cycle phase. Yeast 9: 33-42.
- 216. Zakrzewska A, van Eikenhorst G, Burggraaff JEC, Vis DJ, Hoefsloot H, Delneri D, Oliver SG, Brul S, Smits GJ (2011) Genome-wide analysis of yeast stress survival and tolerance acquisition to analyze the central trade-off between growth rate and cellular robustness. Mol Biol Cell 22: 4435-4446.
- 217. Johnston M (1999) Feasting, fasting and fermenting: Glucose sensing in yeast and other cells. Trends Genet 15: 29-33.

- 218. Kuyper M, Toirkens MJ, Diderich JA, Winkler AA, van Dijken JP, Pronk JT (2005) Evolutionary engineering of mixed-sugar utilization by a xylose-fermenting *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain. FEMS Yeast Res 5: 925-934.
- 219. Wouter Wisselink H, Toirkens MJ, Wu Q, Pronk JT, van Maris AJ (2009) Novel evolutionary engineering approach for accelerated utilization of glucose, xylose, and arabinose mixtures by engineered *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strains. Appl Environ Microbiol 75: 907-914.
- 220. Hamacher T, Becker J, Gárdonyi M, Hahn-Hägerdal B, Boles E (2002) Characterization of the xylose-transporting properties of yeast hexose transporters and their influence on xylose utilization. Microbiology 148: 2783-2788.
- 221. Sedlak M, Ho NWY (2004) Characterization of the effectiveness of hexose transporters for transporting xylose during glucose and xylose co-fermentation by a recombinant *Saccharomyces yeast*. Yeast 21: 671-684.
- 222. Saloheimo A, Rauta J, Stasyk OV, Sibirny AA, Penttilä M, Ruohonen L (2007) Xylose transport studies with xylose-utilizing *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strains expressing heterologous and homologous permeases. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 74: 1041-1052.
- 223. Esteves GC, Da Costa Pereira JP (2011) Finite element modeling of concentration profiles and metabolism of macro-encapsulated yeast. Gothenburg: Chalmers University of Technology.
- 224. Jin Y-S, Ni H, Laplaza JM, Jeffries TW (2003) Optimal growth and ethanol production from xylose by recombinant *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* require moderate d-Xylulokinase activity. Appl Environ Microbiol 69: 495-503.
- 225. Ge XM, Zhang L, Bai FW (2006) Impacts of yeast floc size distributions on their observed rates for substrate uptake and product formation. Enzyme Microb Technol 39: 289-295.
- 226. Vicente AA, Dluhý M, Ferreira EC, Mota M, Teixeira JA (1998) Mass transfer properties of glucose and O<sub>2</sub> in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* flocs. Biochem Eng J 2: 35-43.
- 227. Smukalla S, Caldara M, Pochet N, Beauvais A, Guadagnini S, Yan C, Vinces MD, Jansen A, Prevost MC, Latgé J-P, Fink GR, Foster KR, Verstrepen KJ (2008) *FLO1* is a variable green beard gene that drives biofilm-like cooperation in budding yeast. Cell 135: 726-737.
- 228. Li Q, Zhao X-Q, Chang AK, Zhang Q-M, Bai F-W (2012) Ethanol-induced yeast flocculation directed by the promoter of *TPS1* encoding trehalose-6-phosphate synthase 1 for efficient ethanol production. Metab Eng 14: 1-8.